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Abingdon Health Limited

Directors' Report for the Year Ended 30 June 2019

The directors present their anaual report and financial statements for the 12 months ended 30 June
2019.

Principal activities .
The group's principal activity continued to be to develop, manufacture and distribute diagnostic
devices and provide consultancy services to businesses in the diagnostics sector.

The group has taken advantage of the exceptions set out in Section 414(b) of the Companies Act
2006 which permit it to not prepare a Strategic Report, on the grounds that it qualifies as a small
group.

Directors '
The directors who held office during the year and up to the date of signature of the financial
statements were as follows:

Mr M Duckworth
Dr C Hand

Mr R Mariow

Mr C Yates

Results and dividends
The results for the year are set out on pages 9 to 15. The directors do not recommend payment of

a dividend (2018: £Nil)
Going concern

The Directors have concluded that it Is necessary to draw attention to the revenue and cost forecasts
in the business plans. In order for the Group and Company to continue as a going cancern, there is
3 requirement to achleve a certain level of sales. Given the Company Is in the early stages of
developing certain products and transferring those to volume contract manufacturing arrangements,
the forecast level of sales in the next 12 months Is subject to inherent uncertainty. If an adequate
sales level cannot be achieved to support the Group and Company, the Directors have the options
to reduce on-golng spend or seek additional funding from shareholders or providers of working
capital facilities. While the Board is confident that It will achieve the required revenue and has a
successful track record In both cutting costs and raising funds, there remains uncertainty as to the
level of sales that will be achieved, the amount of cost reduction that may be required and the
amount of funding that could be raised from shareholders or external investors. This combination of
factors represents 3 material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt on the Group and
Company’s abllity to continue as a golng concern. However, based on the relative likelihood of
achieving versus not achieving, the Board believe it is appropriate to continue to adopt the going
concern basls of accounting In preparing these financial statements, These financial statements do
not Include the adjustments that would result if the Group and Company were unable to continue as
a going concern.

Principal risks

Market & liquidity risk .
This Is covered Iin the going concern section above and In note 20. The critical challenge facing the
Company is growing revenues to breakeven In a timely fashlon, and securing appropriate funding
from shareholders and other sources when required. This risk is regularly monitored by the Board
and operational management.

Capltal risk

On 11 May 2018, the Company compteted a refinancing and all £7,110,000 of outstanding loan notes
were converted Into 2,853,204 ordinary shares. Under the terms of the refinancing, all accrued
interest was waived by the loan note holders.

On 26 July 2018 the Company entered into a new Enterprise Management Incentives Scheme in
favour of some of its management team, Details shown in note 24,

Fundraising activity provided the Company with £1.5m of additlonal funds which was received on 18
January 2019,
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Abingdon Health Limited

Directors' Report for the Year Ended 30 June 2019 (continued)

Credit risk
The Group typically has cash resources which are held at bank/banks with high credit ratings.

Customer credit is closely monitored. This risk is considered in note 20.

Technology risk

The Group’s business faces Intense competition from feflow diagnostic companies. Technological
changes could overtake the products being developed by the Group, or the Group may incur
substantial costs as a result of disputes with a third party relating to the infringement of IP. This Is
managed by an experlenced senior management team with support from external consultants and

advisors where appropriate. :

Operational risk .
The quality of developments and manufactured products are critical to the success of the business,
This risk Is managed through the application of a stringent Quality Management System, Investing
in new equipment, servicing existing equipment and employing a skllled and weli-trained work force.

Auditor
In accordance with the company’s articles, a resolution proposing that BOO LLP be reappointed as

auditor of the company will be put at a2 General Meeting.

Statement of disclosure to auditor

So far as each person who was a director at the date of approving this report is aware, there is no
relevant audit information of which the company’s auditor is unaware. Additionally, the directors
individually have taken all the necessary steps that they ought to have taken as directors in order
to make themselves aware of all relevant audit information and to establish that the company's

auditor is aware of that information.

On behalf of the board

Director

2o DeECEWABER 2019.



Abingdon Health Limited

Directors’ Responsibilities Statement

The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements in
accordance with applicable law and regulations,

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under
that law the directors have elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with IFRS’s as
adopted by the EU. Under company law the directors must not approve the financial statements
unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the company
and of the profit or loss of the company for that period. In preparing these financlal statements,
the directors are required to:

*  select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

* make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

¢ prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to
presume that the company will continue In business.

The directors are responsibie for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show
and explain the company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the
financial position of the company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply
with the Companies Act 2006. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the company
and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other

Irregularities.



Abingdon Health Limited

Independent Auditor’s 'Report to members of Abingdon Health
Limited

Qpinion

We have audlted the financial statements of Abingdon Health Limited (“the Parent Company”) and
its subsidiaries (“the Group”) for the period ended 30 June 2019 which comprise the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, the Consolidated and company balance sheets, the
Consalidated and company statement of changes in equity, the Consolidated statement of cash flows
and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies,

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the Group financiai
statements is applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by
the European Union. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of
the Parent Company financial statements is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting
Standards, including Financlal Reporting Standard 101.

In our opinion:

+ the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s and of the Parent
Company'’s affairs as at 30 June 2019 and of the Group’s loss for the year then ended;

* the Group financlal statements have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as
adopted by the European Union;

« the Parent Company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with United
Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice; and

+ the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the
Companies Act 2006.

Basis for oplnion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs(UK)) and
applicable Jaw. Our responsibilities under those standards are (urther described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We are independent of
the Group and the Parent Company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are retevant to
our audit of financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard, and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and approprlate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Material uncertainty related to going concern

We draw attention to note 1.4 to the financial statements, which indicates that as part of a
forecasting exercise performed for the next twelve months from the date of approval of these
financial statements, there remains uncertainty as to the level of sales that will be achieved, the
amount of cost reduction that may be required and the amount of funding that could be raised
from shareholders or external investors. As stated in note 1.4, these events or conditions indlcate
that a material uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt on the Group and parent
company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified In respect of this

matter.

Other information

The Directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the
Information included in the Annual report, other than the financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon, Qur opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and,
except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon,

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other Information is materially inconsistent with
the financlal statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. [f we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material
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Abingdon Health Limited

misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material misstatement in the
financlal statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the wark we
have performed, we conclude that there is @ material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

the information given in the Directors’ report for the financlal year for which the financial
statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and

the Directors’ report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements,

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the Group and the Parent Company and its
environment obtained in the course of the audit, we have not identified material misstatements in

the Directors’ report.

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Companies
Act 2006 requires us to report to you if, in our opinion:

adequate accounting records have not been kept by the Parent Company, or returns adequate for
our audit have not been received from branches not visited by us; or

the Parent Company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and
returns; or

certain disclosures of Directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or
we have not received all the informatlon and explanations we require for our audit.

the directors were not entitled to prepare the financial statements in accordance with the small
companies regime and take advantage of the small companies’ exemptions in preparing the
directors' report and from the requirement to prepare a strategic report.

Responsibilities of Directors

As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities Statement, the Directors are responsible
for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair
view, and for such internal control as the Directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud

or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Directors are responsible for assessing the Group and
the Parent Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basls of accounting unless the Directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or the Parent Company or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Qur objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a
whole are free from materlal misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance Is a high [evel of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.



Abingdon Health Limited

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on
the Financial Reporting Council’s website at hitps://wwve. fre.org.uk/auditorsrasponsibitities. This
description forms part of our auditor’s report.

Use of our report

This report is made solely to the Parent Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with
Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we
might state to the Parent Company’s members those matters we are required to state to them in
an auditor's report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not
accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Parent Company and the Parent
Company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have
formed.

Boo Ll

Mark Langford (Senior Statutory Auditor)

For and on behalf of BDO LLP, Statutory Auditor
Leeds

United Kingdom .

23 DecamBer Q9

B8DO LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales (with registered number
0C305127). :



Abingdon Health Limited

- Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the Year Ended 30 June 2019

Year ended 18 months
30 June ended 30

Notes 2019 June 2018
£ £
Revenue 3 2,277,293 2,268,446
Cost of sales (705,383) (583,090)
Gross profit 1,571,910 1,685,356
_Administrative expenses e {3,021,359)  _ (6,359,100)
Operating loss 4 (1,449,449)  (4,673,744)
Share of operating profit of joint venture - 302
Other income - 61,879
Other gains and losses - - 12,013,941
Interest receivable 8 3,476 8,677
Interest payable 9 (704)  (4,347,644)
{Lass)/ profit before taxation (1,446,677) 3,063,411
Taxatlon credit on (loss)/profit 10 ' 205,740 462,168
(Loss)/ profit of the financial year/period (1,240,937) 3,525,579
Other comprehenslve income for the year/period net
of tax - -
Total comprehensive income for the year/period (1,240,937) 3,525,579

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent (1,240,937) 3,525,579



Abingdon Health Limited

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

As at 30 June 2019

Notes 30 June 30 June
2019 2018
£ £
Non-current assets
Goodwill 12 3,742,411 3,742,411
Other intangible assets 12 779,512 861,321
Property, plant and equipment 13 106,351 115,026
4,628,274 4,718,758
Current assets
Inventories 15 406,414 389,166
Trade and other receivables 16 1,006,696 834,352
Cash _and cash equivalents 866,152 476,909
2,279,262 1,700,427
Total assets 6,907,536 6,419,185
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 17 737,896 538,587
Obligations under finance leases 19 3,701 3,701
741,597 542,288 -
Non-current labilities -
Obligations under finance leases 19 6,226 9,926
6,226 9,926
Total liabilities 747,821 552,214
Neat assets 6,159,713 5,866,971
Equity
Attributable to the owners of the parent:
Share capital 23 15,323 11,407
Share premium account 23 13,195,190 11,699,106
Share based payment reserve 24 33,679 -
Retained earnings (7,084,479) (5,843,542)
Total equity 6,159,713 5,866,971

The financial statements were approved by the board of directors and authorised for issue on

.'ZQ[IL[ZQL‘.‘\... and are signed on Its behalf by:

Mr R Mattow
Director

Company Registration No. 06475379

10
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Abingdon Health Limited

Company Statement of Financial Position
As at 30 June 2019

Notes 30 June 30 June
2019 2018
£ £ £ £
Non-current assets
Other Intanglble assets
12 6,569 20,617
Property, plant and
equipment 13 23,086 20,517
Investment in
subsidiaries 14 418,638 418,638
Investment In assoclates 14 : -
448,293 459,772
Current assets
Trade and other
recetvables falling due
within one year 16 1,970,838 1,496,001
Cash at bank and in
hand 420,864 261,021
2,391,703 1,757,022
Current liabilities
Trade and other
_payables 17 208,821 213920
Net current assets 2,182,882 1,543,102
Total assets less
current liabilities 2,631,175 2,002,874
Net assets 2,631,175 2,002,874
Equity
Share capital 23 15,323 11,407
Share premium account 23 13,195,190 11,699,106
Share based payment
reserve 24 33,679 -
Retained earnings (10,613,017) (9,707,639)
Total equity 2,631,175 2,002,874

The Company’s loss after taxation for the year was £905,378 (2018 period loss: £1,041,520).

The financial statements were approved by the board of directors and authorised for issue on
22(\2.Jis09,... and are signed on its behalf by:

Company Registration No. 06475379

11



Abingdon Health Limited

Consolidated Statement of Changeé in Equity for the Year Ended 30

June 2019
Share Share Share Retained Total equity
Capital pramium based aarnings attributable
account payment to owners of
reserve the parent
[ £ £ £ £
Balance at 1 January 2017 7,005 10,171,934 99,974  (10,394,570) (115,661)
Perlod ended 30 June 2018:
Profit and loss - - - 3,525,579 3,525,579
;‘2:'! comprehensive income for the . - . 3,525,579 3,525,579
Issue of share capital 1,549 537,395 - - 538,944
Share option unwinding - - 925,475 - 925,475
ll‘)‘;:tt:‘te-l:c-equ:ty conversion ~ share 2,853 989,777 R _ 992,630
Debt-to-equity conversion - transfer R -
_from share based payment reserve (1,025,449) 1,025,449
Balance at 30 June 2018 11,407 11,699,106 - (5,843,542) 5,866,971
Year ended 30 June 2019:
Profit and loss - : - (1,240,937) (1,240,937)
Total comprehensive income for the - - - (1,240,937) (1,240,937)
year '
Issue of share capital 3,916 1,496,084 - - 1,500,000
Share based payments - - 33,679 - 33,679
Batance at 30 June 2019 15,323 13,195,190 33,679 (7,084,479) 6,159,713

12



Abingdon Health Limited

Company Statement of Changes in Eqditv

For the Year Ended 30 June 2019

Notes  Share Share Share Retained Total equity
capitat  premium based earnings attributable
account payment to owners
reserve of the
parent
£ £ £ £ £
Balance at 1 January 2017 7,005 10,171,934 99,974 (9,691,568) 587,345
Period ended 30 June 2018:
Profit and 10ss - - - (1,041,520) (1,041,520)
Total comprehensive income for
the period - - - (1,041,520) (1,041,520)
Issue of share capital 1,549 537,395 - $38,944
Share option unwinding . 925,475 ) 925,475
Debt-to-equity conversion -~ } _ o e
share issue 2,853 989,777 992,630
Debt-to-equity conversion -
transfer from share based - - {1,025,449) 1,025,449 -
payment reserve
Balance at 30 June 2018 11,407 11,699,106 (9,707,639) 2,002,874
Year ended 30 June 2019:
Profit and loss - - - (905,379) (905,379) .
Total comprehensive income for - - - (905,379) {905,379)
the year
Issue of share capital 3,916 1,496,084 - - 1,500,000
Share based payments - - 33,679 - 33,679
Balance at 30 Junea 2019 15,323 13,195,190 33,679 2,631,174

13
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Abingdon Health Limited

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
For the Year Ended 30 June 2019

Notes 30 June 30 June
2019 2018
£ £
Cash flows from operating activities:
(Loss)/ profit for the year/period (1,240,937) 3,525,579
Adjustments for:
Finance (income)/ costs (2,772) 4,338,967
Loan notes extinguished 5 - (12,013,941)
Tax credit (205,740) (462,168)
Amortisation and impairment of intangibie 12 139,144 341,526
assets 33,679 925,475
Share based payment 13 47,550 188,714
Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment .
(Profit)/ loss on disposal of property, plant 13 {13,500) 963
and equipment
Impairment of fixed asset investments 14 - 167,043
Changes in working capital.
Increase in inventories 15 (17,248) (133,095)
(Increase)/ decrease In trade and other 16 (501,376) 401,707
receivables
Increase/ (decrease) in trade and other 17 200,029 (388,082)
payables
Cash used by operations (1,561,171) (3,107,312)
Interest paid 9 (704) (1,503)
Income taxes received 534,779 466,885
Net cash outflow from operating (1,027,096) (2,641,930)
activities
Interest received 8 3,476 8,677
Purchase of intangible assets 12 (57,336) (280,331)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 13 (38,881) (78,354)
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and 13,500 1,021
equipment
Investment in associate 14 - (304)
(79,241) (349,291)

Net cash used In investing activities

14



Abingdon Health Limited

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
For the Year Ended 30 June 2019

Notes 30 June 30 June
2019 2018
£ £
Financing activities
Proceeds from issue of own shares 1,500,000 538,944
Repayment of bank loans and borrowings 18 - (210,000)
Payment of finance leases obligations 19 (4,420) (5,107)
Proceeds from issue of loan notes and new finance
lease - 1,110,000
Net cash generated from financing 1,495,580 1,433,837
Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash
equivalents 389,243  (1,557,384)
. Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the
year/period 476,909 2,034,293
Cash and cash equivaients at end of the .
year/period 866,152 476,909

15



Abingdon Health Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 30 June 2019

1. Accounting policlies

Company information

Abingdon Health Ltd ("the Company”) is a limited company domiciled and incorporated in England
and Wales. The registered office is National Agri Food Innovation Campus, Sand Hutton, York, YO41
1LZ. The consolidated financial information (or “financial statements”) Iincorporate the flnancial
information of the Company and entities (its subsidiaries) cantrolled by the Company (collectively
comprising the “Group”).

The principal activity of the Group is to develop, manufacture and distribute diagnostic devices and
provide consultancy services to businesses in the diagnostics sector.

1.1 Accounting convention
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRS") as adopted by the European Union, and the requirements of the Companies Act

2006,

The Company has taken advantage of the following disclosure exemptions under FRS 101:

(a) the requirements of IFRS 7 Financlal Instruments: Disclosure, on the grounds that
equivalent disclasures for financial instruments are presented In the group accounts of
Abingdon Health Ltd;

{b) the requirements of IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows to present a statement of cash flows;

(c) the requirements of IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures to disclose related party transactions-
and balances between two or more members of a group;

(d) the requirements of paragraphs 62, B64(d), B64(e), B64(g), B64(h), B64(j) to B64(m),
B64(n)(ii), B64(o)(ii), B64(q)(li), B66 and B67 of IFRS Business Combinations, for which
equivalent disclosures are included in the group accounts of Abingdon Health Ltd;

{e) the requirement in paragraph 38 of IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements to present
comparative information in respect of:

(1) paragraph 79(a)(iv) of IAS 1,

(1) paragraph 73(e) of IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment; and

(iit) paragraph 118(e) of IAS 38 Intangible Assets.

(f) the requirements of paragraphs 10(d), 10(f), 39(c) and 134-136 of IAS 1 Presentation of
Financial Statements; and

(g) the requirements of paragraphs 134(d)-134(f) and 135(c)-135(e) of JAS 36 Impairment of
Assets.

The financial statements are prepared in pounds sterling, which is the functional currency of the
parent Company. Monetary amounts In these financlal statements are rounded to the nearest £1,

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost convention, maodified to include
the revaluation of certaln financial instruments at fair value. The principal accounting policies
adopted are set out below.

As permitted by s408 Companles Act 2006, the Company has not presented its own Statement of
Comprehensive Income. The Company’s loss for the year was £905,378 (2018 loss: £1,041,520).

1.2 Reporting period
These financial statements cover a period of 12 months, whilst the comparative financlal information
covers a period of 18 months. This is due to the amended period end providing Improved

management capacity for managing the financial reporting process.

16
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Abingdon Health Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 30 June 2019

1. Accounting policies (continued)

1.3 Basis of consolidation

The Group financial information consolidates those of the Company and the subsidiaries that the
Company has control of. Control is established when the Company is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the subsidiary and has the abllity to affect those returns
through its power over the subsidiary.

Where a subsidiary undertaking is acquired/disposed of during the year, the consolidated profits or
losses are recagnised from/until the effective date of the acquisition/disposal.

All inter-company balances and transactions between group companies have been eliminated on
consolidation.

Where necessary, ‘adjustments are made to the financiat information of subsidiaries to bring the
accounting policies used into line with those used by the Group.

Non-controlling interests, presented as part of equity, represent the portion of a subsidiary’s profit
or loss and net assets that are not held by the Group. The Group attributes total comprehensive
Income or loss of subsidiaries between the owners of the parent and the non-controlling interest
based on their respective ownership interests. '

The Group applies the acquisition method of accounting for business combinations enacted after the
date of creation of the Group following incorporation of Abingdon Health Ltd, as detailed further
below. The consideration transferred by the Group to obtaln control of a subsidiary is calculated as
the sum of the acquisition-date falr value of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by
the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interest issued by the Group.
Acquisition costs are expensed as Incurred.

The Group recognises Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed In a business combination
regardless of whether they have been previously recognised In the acquired subsidlary’s financial
information prior to the acquisition. Assets acquired and llabilitles assumed are measured at thelr

acquisition-date fair values.

Goodwill is stated after separate recognition of identiflable intanglble assets. It is calculated as the
excess of the fair value of consideration transferred, over the Group’s share of the acquisition-date
fair values of identifiable net assets. If the fair values of identifiable net assets exceed the sum
calculated above, the excess amount (i.e. gain on a bargain purchase) is recognised in profit or loss
immediately.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an
equity transaction.

If the Group Joses control over a subslidiary, it derecognises the related assets (including goodwill),
liabilities, non-controlling interest and other components of equity while any resultant gain or loss
is recognised in profit or loss. Any investment retalined s recognised at fair value.

Entities other than subsidiary undertakings or joint ventures, in which the Group has a participating
interest and over whose operating and financial policies the Group exercises a significant influence,
are treated as associates, In the consolidated financial statements, associates are accounted for
using the equity method.

Entities in which the Group holds an interest and which are jointly controlled by the Group and one
or more other ventures under a contractual arrangement are treated as joint ventures. In the Group
financial statements, joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method.

17



Abingdon Health Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 30 June 2019

1. Accounting policies (continued)

1.4 Going concern
The Directors have concluded that it is necessary to draw attention to the revenue and cost forecasts
in the business plans. In order for the Group and Company to continue as a going concern, there is
a requirement to achieve a certain level of sales. Glven the Company is in the early stages of
developing certain products and transferring those to volume contract manufacturing arrangements,
the forecast level of sales in the next 12 months is subject to inherent uncertainty.

If an adequate sales level cannot be achieved to support the Group and Company, the Directors
have the options to reduce on-going spend or seek additional funding from shareholiders or providers
of working capital facilities. While the Board is confldent that it will achieve the required revenue
and has a successful track record in both cutting costs and raising funds, there remains uncertainty
as to the level of sales that will be achieved, the amount of cost reduction that may be required and
the amount of funding that could be raised from shareholders or external investors. This combination
of factors represents a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt on the Group and
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

However, based on the relative likelihood of achieving versus not achieving, the Board believe it Is
appropriate to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing these financlal
statements. These financial statements do not include the adjustments that would result if the Group
and Company were unable to continue as a going concern,

1.5 Revenue .
The Group has applied IFRS 15 'Revenue from contracts with customers' for the first time in the

current reporting year. Under IFRS 15, the Group applies the 5-step method to identify contracts
with its customers, determine performance obligations arlsing under thase contracts, set an
expected transaction price, allocate that price to the performance obligations, and then recognises
revenues as and when those obligations are satisfied. Under the previous standard (IAS 18) the
Group recognised revenue when the risks and rewards of the goods and services were transferred
to the customer.

The Group has reviewed its contracts with customers and the performance obligations within those
cantracts and has concluded that no change is required to previously reported revenue. However,
the Group has revised its accounting policies compared to those disclosed in the prior year Financial
Statements to reflect the differences between IFRS 15 and IAS 18. The policles below reflect these

revisions.

Long term contracts
Profit is recognised on long term contracts, if the final outcome can be assessed with reasonable

certainty, by Including in the profit and loss account turnover and related costs as contract activity
progresses. Revenue Is calculated by reference to the value of work performed to date as a
proportion of the total contract value.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised based on the accrual madel and are measured at the fair value
of the asset received or receivable. Grants are classified as relating either to revenue or assets.
Government grants relating to tangible fixed assets are treated as deferred income and released to
the profit and loss account over the expected useful lives of the assets concerned. Other grants are
credited to the profit and loss account as the related expenditure If incurred. Where part of a grant
relating to an asset Is deferred, it is recognised as deferred-income.

Other
Deferred Income arises where services are invoiced in advance of performance. The amount s

released to the profit or loss in subsequent periods in reference to the stage of completion of the
transaction at the reporting date.
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Abingdon Health Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 30 June 2019

1. Accounting policies (continued)

Where the Group identifles rights to the economic benefits of other sources of income through
fulfilment of certain performance criteria, the income is recognised in the relevant accounting perliod
when those conditions are fulfilled, net of VAT,

1.6 Inventory

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and estimated selling price iess costs to complete and
sell. Cost comprises direct materials and, where applicable, direct fabour costs and those overheads
that have been incurred In bringing the stocks to their present location and condition.

At each reporting date, an assessment is made for impairment. Any excess of the carrying amount
of inventories over its estimated selling price less costs to complete and sell is recognised as an
Impairment loss in profit or loss. Reversals of impairment losses are also recognised in profit or loss.

1.7 Intangible fixed assets - goodwill

Goodwill represents the future economic benefits arising from other assets acquired in a business
combination that are not individually identiflable and separately recognised. See note 12 for
information on how goodwill is initially determined. After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at
cost fess accumulated impairment losses. See note 12 for a description of impaliment testing

procedures.

1.8 Intangible fixed assets other than goodwill

Intangible assets are Initially measured at cost. Where intangible assets are acquired as part of a
business combination, cost is determined by reference to a fair value estimation technique as
disclosed further in note 2. After initial recognition, intangible assets are recognised at cost less any
accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.

The depreclable amount of an intangible asset with a finite useful life is allocated on a systematic
basls over its useful life. Amortisation begins when the asset is available for use, i.e. when it is In
the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by
management.

The amortisatlon perlod and the amortisation method for Intangible assets with a finite useful life is
reviewed each financial period-end, If the expected useful life of the asset is different from previous
estimates, the amortisation period is changed accordingly. Useful lives are typically amortised on
the following basis: .

Patents and Trademarks 10% straight line
Website Costs 20%-25% straight tine
Development Costs 10% stralght line

Amortisation is charged to administrative expenses In the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive
Income.

Research expenditure is written off against profits in the year in which it Is incurred. Identifiable
development expenditure is capitalised to the extent that the technical, commercial and financial
feasibility can be demonstrated.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 30 June 2019

1. Accounting policies (continued)

1.9 Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are recognised as an asset only If it is probable that future economic
beneflts associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured

reliably.

An item of property, plant and equipment that qualtifies for recognition as an asset Is measured at
its cost. Cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises the purchase price, any costs
directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location and conditlon necessary for it to be capable
of operating in the manner intended by management.

After recognition, all property, plant and equipment are carried at costs less any accumulated
depreciation and any accumulated Impairment losses.

Depreciation is provided at rates calculated to write down the cost of assets, less estimated residual
value, aver their expected useful lives on the following basis:

Plant and machinery © 20%-33% straight line
Office equipment 33% straight line
Leasehold improvements Life of the lease

The residual value and the useful life of an asset are reviewed at least at each financial period-end
and if expectations differ from previous estimates, the changes are accounted for as a change in an
accounting estimate in accordance with IAS 8 Accounting Policles, Changes in Accounting Estimates
and Errors,

Gains or losses arising on the disposal of property, plant and equipment are determined as the
difference between the disposal proceeds and the carrying value of the asset and are recognised in
profit or loss.

1.10 Non-current investments
A subsidiary is an entity controlled by the Group. Control is the power to govern the financial and

. operating policies of the entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

Entities in which the company has a long term interest and shares control under a contractual
arrangement are classified as jointly controlled entities.,

1.11 Impairment of non-current assets

For impairment assessment purposes, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are
largely independent cash flows. As a result, some assets are tested individually for impairment and
some are tested at cash-generating unit level. Goodwill is allocated to those cash-generating units
that are expected to benefit from synergies of the related business combination and represent the
lowest level within the Group at which management monitors goadwill.

Cash-generating units to which goodwill has been allocated are tested for impairment at least
annually. All other individual assets or cash-generating units are tested for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.

An asset or cash-generating unit is impalred when its carrying amount exceeds its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is measured as the higher of fair value less cost of disposal and
value In use. The value in use Is calculated as being net projected cash flows based on financial

forecasts discounted back to present value.
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Abingdon Health Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 30 June 2019

1. Accounting policies (continued)
1.11 Impairment of non-current assets (continued)

The impairment loss is allocated to reduce the carrying amount of the asset, first against the carrying
amount of any goodwilll allocated to the cash-generating unit, and then to the other assets of the
unit pro-rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. With the exception of
goodwill, all assets are subsequently reassessed for indications that an impairment loss previously
recognised may no longer exist. Ap impairment loss is reversed if the asset’s or cash-generating
unit’s recoverable amount exceeds its carrying amount.

1.12 Financial instruments

Financial assets
Financial assets are recognised in the statement of financial position when, and only when, the Group
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

All financial assets excluding investments are classified as loans and receivables; these comprise
trade and other receivables and cash and cash equivalents. Loans and recelvables are non-derivative
financiat assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market.

Financial assets are initially recognised at fair value plus directly attributable transaction costs.
After initlal recognition, loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method. Discounting is omitted where the effect of discounting is immaterial,

If there Is objective evidence that there Is an impalrment loss on loans and receivables, the amount
of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value
of estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial asset's original effective interest rate (i.e.
the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition). The carrylng amount of the asset Is
reduced elther directly or through use of an allowance account.

A financial asset Is derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial
asset expire, or when the financlal asset and all substantial risks and rewards are transferred,

Financial assets held for trading

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets held for trading and
financlal assets designated upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets
are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selling in the near term. This
category Includes derivative financial instruments entered Into by the Company that are not
designated as hedging instruments in hedge relationships as defined by IFRS 9. The Company has
not designated any financial assets upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss.

Derivatives, including separated embedded derivatives, are also classified as held for trading unless
they are designated as effective hedging instruments.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carrled in the Statement of Financial Position
at fair value with changes in fair value -recognised In finance revenue or finance expense in the
Statement of Comprehensive Income.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 30 June 2019

1. Accounting policies (continued)
1.12 Financial instruments (continued)

Impairment of financial assets
Financial assets, other than those held at fair value through profit and loss, are assessed for

indicators of impairment at each reporting end date.

Financlal assets are impaired where there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more
events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash
flows have been affected. If an asset is impaired, the impairment loss is the difference between the
carrylng amount and the present value of the estimated cash flows discounted at the asset’s original
effective interest rate. The Impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss.

If there is a decrease in the impairment loss arising from an event occurring after the impairment
was recognised, the impairment is reversed. The reversal is such that the current ¢arrylng amount
does not exceed what the carrying amount would have been, had the impairment not previously
been recognised. The impairment reversal is recognised in profit or loss.

Derecagnition of financial assets

Financlal assets are derecognised only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire or are settled, or when the Group transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership to another entlty, or if some significant risks and rewards of ownership
are retained but control of the agset has transferred to another party that is able to self the asset in

its entirety to an unrelated third party.

Clagssification of financial liabilities
Financial liabilities include borrowings and trade and other payables.

Financial Habilities are obligations to pay cash or other financial assets and are recognised in the
statement of financial position when, and only when, the Group becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument.

Financial [iabllities are initially recognised at fair value adjusted for any directly attributable
transaction costs.

After initial recognition, financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method, with the effective interest recognised as an expense in flnance costs,

Derecognition of financial liabilities
Financial liabllitles are derecognised when the Group's contractual obligations expire or are

discharged or cancelled.

1.13 Equity instruments
Share capital represents the nominal value of shares that have been issued.

Share premium represents the excess consideration received over share capital upon the sale of
shares, less any incidental costs of issue.

Retained earnings include all current and prior period retained profits.

The non-controlling interest represents the portion of equity ownership in subsidiaries which Is not
attributable to the owners of the Company.

Equity instruments issued by the group are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue
costs. Dividends payabtle on equity instruments are recognised as liabilities once they are no longer

at the discretion of the group. i
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 30 June 2019

1. Accounting policies (continued)

1.13 Equity instruments {(continued)

The fair value of equity-settied share based payments to employees is determined at the date of
grant and is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period based on the Group’s estimate
of shares or options that will eventually vest. Fuli disclosure of the calculation models is given in

note 24.

1.14 Taxation
The tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

Current tax
The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from net profit

as reported In the income statement because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and it further excludes Items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the reporting end date,

Deferred tax
Deferred taxes are calculated using the liability method on temporary differences between the

carrying amounts of assets and liabilities and their tax bases.

A deferred tax asset is recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary difference can
be utllised, unless the deferred tax asset arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in
a transaction that is not a business combination and at the time of the transaction, affects neither
accounting profit nor taxable profit (tax loss). However, for deductible temporary differences
assoclated with Investments in subsidiaries a deferred tax asset is recognised when the temporary
difference will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary difference can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the
period when the asset Is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

1,15 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a legal or constructive present obligation as a result
of a past event, it is probable that the Group will be required to settle that obligation and a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as 8 provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settie the
present obligation at the reporting end date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation.

Where the effect of the time value of money is material, the amount expected to be required to
settle the obligation is recognised at present value. When a provision in measured at present value
the unwinding of the discount is recognised as a finance cost in profit or loss in the period it arises.

1,16 Employee benefits
The costs of short-term employee benefits are recognised as a liabllity and an expense, unless those

costs are required to be recognised as part of the cost of stock or non-current assets.

The cost of any unused holiday entitlement is recognised in the period in which the employee’s
services are recelved.

Termination benefits are recognised immediately as an expense when the Company is demonstrably
committed to terminate the employment of an employec or to provide termination benefits.
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Abingdon Health Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 30 June 2019

1. Accounting policies (continued)

1.17 Retirement benefits

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit schemes are charged as an expense as they fall
due.

1.18 Share-based payments

The fair value of equity-settled share based payments to empfoyees is determined at the date of
grant and Is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period based on the Group's estimate
of shares or options that will eventually vest. Full disclosure of the calculation models is given in

note 24.

1.18 Leases

The economic ownership of a leased asset is transferred to the lessee if the lessee bears substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the leased asset. Where the Group is a lessee in this type
of arrangement, the related asset is recognised at the inception of the lease at the fair value of the
leased asset or, if lower, the present value of the lease payments plus incidental payments, if any.
A corresponding amount is recognised as a finance lease llability.

This liability is reduced by lease payments net of finance charges. The interest element of lease
payments represents a constant proportion of the outstanding capital balance and is charged to
profit or loss, as finance costs over the perlod of the lease,

Rentals payahie under operating leases, including any lease incentives recelved, are charged to
income on a straight line basis over the term of the relevant lease except where another more
systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the

lease asset are consumed.
1.19 Standards, amendments and interpretations in issue and adopted for the first time

The current standards, amendments and Interpretations have been adopted in the period and have
not had a material impact on the Group and Company’s financial statements:

+ Amendments to IAS 40 ‘Investment Property’ for transfers of investment property

« IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’, including clarifications made to the
standard since initial release

e IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’

» [FRIC 22 ‘Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration’

* Amendments to IFRS 2 ‘Share-based Payment’ for classification and measurement of share-
based payment transactions

s+ Amendments to IFRS 4 ‘Insurance Contracts’ around interaction with IFRS 9

The disclosure requirements of the group have been revised to comply with the updated

requirements of IFRS 9 'Financial Instruments’ but the group has not otherwise adjusted the carrying
value of its assets or liabilities at either reporting date.
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Abingdon Health Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 30 June 2019

2 Judgements and key saurces of estimation uncertainty

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make
judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts
of assets and liabilities, Income and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions are based
on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the judgements about carrying values
of assets and liabllities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ
from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an angoing basis. Revislons to accounting
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate Is revised and in any future perlods

affected.

Critical judgements
The folfowing judgements (apart from those involving estimates) have had the most significant effect

on amounts recognised in the financlal statements:

Gaing concern
The accounts are prepared on the going concern basis, despite significant level of retained losses.

Further explanation of this judgement is provided in note 1.4.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The estimates and assumptions which have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the

carrying amount of assets and liabifities are as follows:

Weighted Average Cost of Capital
Where discounting is required by accounting standards, it is necessary to make estimates in respect
of matters including the Company’s cost of equity and debt. The estimates are updated when the

inputs are deemed to have changed.

Valuation of intangible assets (Group 2019: £779,512; 2018: £861,321)

Management judgement is required to estimate the useful lives of intangible assets, having reference
to future economic benefits expected to be derived from use of the asset. Economic benefits are
based on the fair values of estimated future cash flows. See Note 12,

Impairment of goodwill (Group 2019: £3,742,411; 2018: £3,742,411)

Goodwilil is tested annually for impairment. The test considers future cash flow projections of cash-
generating units that give rise to the goodwill. Where the discounted cash flows are less than the
carrying value of goodwill, an impairment charge is recognised for the difference. Further analysis
of the estimates and judgements is disclosed in Note 12. .

Deferred tax assets (Group 2019: £nil; 2018: £nil)

Management judgement Is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be
recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of future taxable profits together with an
assessment of the effect of future tax planning strategies and having regard to thelir strategic
planning processes when making these judgements. Further details are contained in Note 21.

Share based payments
The determination of the fair values of EMI options has been made by reference to the Black-Scholes

model with the inputs set out In Nate 24.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 30 June 2019

3. Revenue

IFRS 8, Operating Segments, requires operating segments to be Identified on the basis of internal
reports of the Group that are regularly reviewed by the Group’s chief operating decision maker. The
chief operating deciston maker of the Group is considered to be the Board of Directors.

The Group has operating segments:

o Clinfcal Sales: this comprises of the sale of Seralite products for manitoring multiple
myeloma. )

» Contract Services: this comprises contract development and manufacturing activities.
Product Sales: this comprises the sale of Pocket Diagnostic products, PCRD tests and
antibodies for research use. .

« Other Income: belng revenue for ad hoc services including revenues {rom grants.

Due to the specific nature of the Group’s market, each component of revenue naturally falls within
one of these segments, The operating segments are monitored by the Group's chief aperating
decision maker and strategic decisions are made on the basis of adjusted segment operating results.
Al assets, liablilities and revenues are located in, or derived in, the United Kingdom.

Margins, overheads and balance sheet items are not broken down into the operating segments but
are reviewed on a consolidated basis.

During the year the Group had 4 (2018 - 2) customers with turnover comprlsln‘g between 10% and
20% of Group revenue. In each case 3 contract is in place for the services provided. Whilst all the
key customers have been important in enabling the Company to generate revenue growth in key
areas angd future expected growth, none of them have been consldered as critical factors in the
directors’ assessment of going concern.

Segmentéi analysis of revenue
Year ended 18 months
2019 ended 2018

£ £
Clinical sales 376,300 234,007
Contract services 1,539,446 1,654,696
Product sales 191,676 344,766
Other income 169,871 34,977

2,277,293 2,268,446

Revenue analysed by geographical market
Year ended 18 months
2019 ended 2018

£ £
United Kingdom 1,381,455 1,232,245
Europe 739,575 857,754
Rest of World 156,263 178,447

2,277,293 2,268,446
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 30 June 2019

4. Operating costs
Year ended 18 months

2019 ended 2018

£ £
Operating loss for the period is stated after
charging/(crediting):
Grant income (168,371) (14,099)
Depreciation of owned property, plant and equipment 47,550 173,525
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment held under
finance leases . - 15,200
Cost of inventories recognised as an expense 655,289 541,605
Impairment of inventories 10,129 6,617
Research costs expensed 210,731 285,043
Amartisation and impairment of intangible assets . 139,144 341,526
Operating lease charges (rent) 308,848 499,524
5. Other Gains and Losses
Year ended 18 months
2019 ended 2018
£ £
Loan notes extinguished - 12,013,941

The prior year gains reported in the Statement of Comprehensive Income have been calculated in
accordance with IFRIC 19, which permits the difference between the fair value of the equity issued
and the falr value of liabllities extinguished to be recognised as a galn within the Income Statement.
The liabilitles extinguished represented loan notes with Interest on the face value of the loan, and a
75% redemption premium, previously accounted for using the amortised cost method, which were
exchanged for a new issue of share capital with assoclated premium, with the premlum determined
through a fair value calculation of the company determined after adjustment for elimination of the
loan. The reclassification consists of a change in measurement basis from amortised cost accounting
to fair value as at transfer date. The company has not retained any liabliity to the loan note holders
following the conversion of the loan notes.

The present value of the loan notes as at 31 December 2016 was £7,553,537 and new loan notes
were issued In October 2017 amounting to £1,110,000. Interest on these balances have been
unwound at a rate of 37.75% , being the Internal rate of return taking into account the 75%
redemption premium attached to the notes. Interest has therefore been calculated up until the point
in which the notes were converted, being 11 May 2018, amounting to £4,343,034, with this interest
being recognised as a finance expense in note 9. The difference between the present value of the
loan notes as at this date and the fair value of equity converted, being £13,006,571 and £392,630
respectively, results In a gain realised of £12,013,941 which is presented within the Consolidated
Statement of Comprehensive Income.
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6. Auditor’s remuneration

Year ended 18 months
2019 ended 2018
£ £
Fees payable to the Company’s auditor and its associates:
For audit services
Audit of the financial statements of the Group and Company 19,750 20,500
For non-audit services
Tax advice for the Group 11,750 29,750

7. Employees

The average monthly number of persons (including Directors) employed by the Group during the

year was:
Year ended 18 months
2019 ended 2018
Number Number
Production 13 12
Research 14 20
Management and administration 17 18
44 S50

On a full-time equivalent basis, there were 39 (2018 - 47) employees during the year.

Their aggregate remuneration comprised:

Year ended 18 mbnths
2019 ended 2018
£ £
Wages and salaries 1,930,278 3,461,063
Social security costs 200,497 359,261
Pension costs 89,633 145,145
Share based payment expense ' 33,679 925,475
: 2,254,087 4,890,944

Detalls of Directors' remuneration are provided in note 27.

The total cost of employee remuneration Includes £57,336 (2018 - £272,388) of costs which have
been on development projects, and which have accordingly been capitallsed as an intangible asset,

shown further in note 12.
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For the Year Ended 30 June 2019

8. finance Income

Interest income

Bank interest receivable

9. Finance costs

Interest on financial liabilities measured at amortised
cost:

Interest on bank overdrafts and loan notes

Interest on finance leases

10. Taxation

Current tax

UK Corpaoration tax on profits for the current period
Adjustments in respect of prior periods

Total current tax

Deferred tax
Origination and reversal of temporary differences

Total deferred tax

Total tax credit

30

Year ended 18 months
2019 ended 2018

£ £

3,476 8,677

3,476 8,677

Year ended 18 months
2019 ended 2018

£ £

- 4,346,141

704 1,503

704 4,347,644

Year ended 18 months
2019 ended 2018

£ £

205,740 474,712
205,740 474,712

- (12,544)

- (12,544)

205,740 462,168




Abingdon Health Limited

10. Taxation {(continued)

The charge for the period can be reconciled to the profit per the Consolidated Statement of

Comprehensive Income as follows:

Year ended 18 months

2019 ended 2018

£ £

(Loss)/profit before taxation (1,446,677) 3,063,411
Expected tax (credit)/charge based on a corporation tax rate of

19% (274,867) 587,098

Tax effect of expenses that are not deductible in determining

taxable profit 269,876 (599,642)

Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses not previously recognised - -

Research and development tax credits 210,731 474,712

Tatal tax credit 205,740 462,168

A reduction in the UK corpoaration tax rate from 20% to 19% (effective from 1 April 2017) was
substantively enacted In October 2015, Further reduction to 17% (effective from 1 April 2020) was
substantively enacted in September 2016. These rates have therefore been considered when
calculating deferred tax at the reporting date. Deferred tax balances at the reporting date are
measured at 17% (2018: 18%), except for on share options which are expected to be exercised

befare 1 April 2020 and as such are measured at 13%,

11. Dividends

No dividends were paid in the current or prior period.
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12. Goodwill and other intangible assets

Group Patents and Development

Goodwill trademarks Website costs Total

£ £ £ £ €

Cost .
At 1 July 2018 3,742,411 32,141 83,191 1,359,889 5,217,632
Additions - - - 57,336 57,336
Disposals e e et - : - -
As 30 June 2018 3,742,411 32,141 83,191 1,417,225 5,274,968
Amortisation and impairment
At 1 July 2018 - 21,103 69,778 523,020 613,901
Amortisation charged for
the year - 1,310 12,738 125,096 139,144
Disposals - - - - -
At 30 June 2019 - 22,413 82,516 648,116 753,045
Carrying amount .
At 30 June 2019 3,742,411 9,728 675 769,109 4,521,923
At 1 July 2018 3,742,411 11,038 13,413 836,870 4,603,730

The Group tests goedwill annually for impairment, or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the asset might be impaired. Goodwill Is assessed for impairment by
comparing the carrying values with the value-in-use calculation, which is determined by calculating
the net present value (NPV) of future cash flows arising from the original acquired business.

The carrying amount of goodwilll is indicated In the table above. The net book value of goodwill above
for Forsite Dlagnostics Limited amounts to £763,143 (2018: £763,143), for Serascience Limited
amaounts to £2,979,268 (2018: £2,979,268) and Molecular Vision Limited £nil (2018: £nil). Due to
the nature of the operations the recoverable amaunt of Forsite Diagnostics and Serascience has
been considered to make up one cash generating unit, this recoverable amount has been determined
based on a value in use calculation using cash flow projections based on the actual results for the
year ended 30 June 2019 and the financial forecasts prepared by the Board covering the period to

30 June 2022, with projected cash fows through to June 2022 based on the growth rates forecast
by management based on the maturity of the respective divisions. A growth rate of 3% has been
used. A pre-tax discount rate of 11.0% has been used.

A 32.5% reduction In revenue growth rates over the next 3 years combined with a 20% reduction
in terminal growth rate and a 1.5% Increase in pre-tax discount rate would reduce the headroom in
the base case impairment model to zero. A fallure to achieve the expected revenue growth could
therefore make an impairment to goodwlll reasonably possible.
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12. Goodwill and other intangible assets (continued)

As a result of this review, there has been no impairment to the carrying value of goodwilt or
intanglbles. :

The carrying amounts of gaodwill have been assigned to the following cash-generating units:

Group
30 June 30 June
2019 2018

Clinical and contract services 3,742,411 3,742,411

3,742,411 3,742,411

Company
Website Lease costs Total
£ £ £

Cost
At 1 July 2018 78,923 9,169 88,092
Additions - separately acquired - - -
Disposals - - -
As 30 June 2019 78,923 9,169 88,092
Amortisation and impairment
At 1 July 2018 65,510 1,965 67,475
Amortisation charged for the period 12,738 1,310 14,048
Disposais
At 36 June 2019 78,248 3,275 81,523
Carrying amount
At 30 June 2019 675 5,894 6,569
At 30 June 2018 13,413 7,204 20,617
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13. Property, plant and equipment

Group Improvements
to leasehold Plant and Office
property machinery equipment Total
£ £ £ £
Cost
At 1 July 2018 30,331 1,116,116 110,974 1,257,421
Additions - 24,655 14,226 38,881
Disposals - (49,073) - (49,073)
At 30 June 2019 30,331 1,091,698 125,200 1,247,229
Depreciation and impairment
; At 1 July 2018 . 21,375 1,023,036 97,990 1,142,401
i Depreclation charged In the period 3,583 34,471 9,496 47,550
; Eliminated in respect of disposals - (49,073) - (49,073)
At 30 June 2019 24,958 1,008,434 107,486 1,140,878
Carrying amount
At 30 June 2019 5,373 83,264 17,714 106,351
At 30 June 2018 8,956 93,087 12,983 115,026

The net carrying value of property, plant and equipment includes the following in respect of assets
held under finance leases or hire purchase contracts, which are secured by the lessors' title to the
assets. The depreciation charge in respect of such assets amounted to £nil (2018 - £19,000) for the
period. These assets were fully depreciated at the end of 2018.

Company
Improvements to
teasehold Office
property equipment Total
£ £ £
Cost ’
At 1 July 2018 14,330 62,512 76,842
Additions - 14,226 - 14,226
Disposals - - -
At 30 June 2019 14,330 76,738 91,068
Depreciation and impairment
At 1 July 2018 5,374 50,951 56,325
Depreciation charged in the period 3,583 8,074 11,657
Disposals - - -
At 30 June 2019 8,957 59,025 67,982
Carrying amount
At 30 June 2019 5,373 17,713 23,086
At 30 June 2018 8,956 11,561 20,517
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14. Investments

Carrying amount
At 30 June 2019

At 30 June 2018

~-— Group
2019 2018
£ £
Investments In associates - R
Company
2019 2018
[ [
Investments in subslidiaries 418,638 418,638
Investments In associates - -
418,638 418,638
Movements in investment - Company Assoclates
3
Share of net assets
At 1 July 2018 167,043
Additions -
Disposals [
At 30 June 2019 167,043
Impairment
At 1 July 2018 167,043
Impairment during the year JOUS——
At 30 June 2019 167,043

As at 31 December 2016 and 30 June 2018 the company held 35% of the shares of Linear
Diagnostics Limited ("LDL"), its assoclate. LDL is an early stage diagnostic technology company. As
a result of uncertainty about the commercial potential of LDL's technology, the company has written
down the value of its investment (£167,043) and loans (£176,197) to LDL to £nil. LDL completed a
fundraising post-year end and all loans were converted to equity as part of this fundraising. Post-
fundraising, Abingdon Health held 18% of the shares of LDL.

The company has unrecognised losses for the year of £81,520 (2018: £30,795) and cumulative
unrecognised losses of £103,938 (2018: £22,418).

Details of subsidiaries are included in Note 29.
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14. Investments (continued)

Summarised Financial Information - Linear Diagnostics Limited

2019 2018
£ £
Non-current assets 315,083 1,036
Current assets 26,584 102,450
Current liabilities (99,458) (23,193)
Non-current liabilities (924,584) (763,360)
Net Liabilities (682,375) (688,067)
Revenue 31,853 71,253
Loss after tax (232,916) (338,191)
Movements in Investments Equity Investments in Total
Campany investments in associates
subsidiaries
£ £ £
Cost or valuation .
At 1 July 2018 6,238,741 167,043 6,405,784
Additions - - -
Disposals ) - - -
At 30 June 2019 6,238,741 167,043 6,405,784
Impairment
At 1 3uly 2018 5,820,103 167,043 5,987,146
Provision for impairment - - -
Disposals - - -
Al 30 June 2019 5,820,103 167,043 5,987,146
Carrying amount
At 30 June 2019 418,638 - 418,638
At 30 June 2018 418,638 - 418,638
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15. Inventories

2019 2036— -
Group £ [
Raw materials 338,154 248,518
Work in progress 32,968 53,782
Finlshed goods 35,292 86,866
406,414 389,166
2019 2018
Company £ £
Inventorles - . -

16. Trade and other raceivables

Group 2019 2018
Amounts falling due within one year; £ [ 3
Trade receivables 422,518 96,006
Other receivables and prepayments 584,178 738,346
1,006,696 834,352

Trade receivables at the reporting date are shown above net of provisions. Expected credit losses
for the following 12 months have been estimated In accordance with IFRS 9, taking into account
that there has been no significant increase In credit risk. Glven the stralghtforward nature of the
group's recelvables, the directors consider that the group qualifies for Stage 1 impairment models
which permit the simplified recagnition of credit losses arising from default events that are possible
within the next 12 months only.

Trade receivables are stated net of impairment for estimated irrecoverable amounts of £26,238
(2018: £26,238). This impairment has been determined by reference to past default experience and
known issues. Write offs are made when the irrecoverable amount becomes certain. The Directors
consider that the carrying amount of trade and other receivables approximates to their fair value.

Included within prepayments and accrued income is an amount of £42,363 (2018 - £nil) relating to
contract assets, calculated in accordance with IFRS 15.

Movement on the allowance for irrecoverable amounts on trade receivables are as follows:

2019 2018

£ £

Beginning of the period 26,238 26,238
Provision far bad receivables 8,400 28,010
Released during the period (8,400) (28,010)
End of the year/period 26,238 26,238
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16. Trade and other receivables (Continued)

An analysis of the trade debtors past due but not impaired is:

60 to 120 days
More than 120 days
Less provision

Total trade debtors past due but not impaired

Add:
Less than 60 days

Net trade receivables

2019 2018
£ £

5,581 4,800
76,856 51,605
(26,238) (26,238)
56,199 30,167
366,319 65,839
422,518 96,006

The Directors consider the credit quality of trade and other receivables that are nelther past due nor

impaired to be good.

Company

Amounts falling due within one year:
Trade receivables

Other receivables and prepayments
Amounts due from subsidiaries

17. Current trade and other payables

Group

Trade payables
Current tax liabilities
Other payables

2019 2018

£ £
229,968 21,737
1,740,870 1,474,264
1,970,838 1,496,001
2019 2018

£ £
431,106 215,652
76,786 132,258
230,004 190,677
737,896 538,587

Other payables include £13,000 repayable to a former shareholder in instalments (2018: £13,000)

Further information is provided in Note 18.

Included within accruals and deferred income is an amount of £75,094 (2018 - £nil) relating to
deferred revenues, calculated in accordance with 1IFRS 15.

Company

Trade payables
Current tax liabilities

Other payables

2019 2018

£ £
131,178 63,306
39,228 113,329
38,415 37,285
208,821 213,920
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 30 June 2019

18. 8orrowings

Group 2019 2018
. £ £

Other payables 13,000 13,000
. 13,000 13,000

Payable within one year 13,000 13,000

Payable between one and two years
Payable between two and five years -

13,000 13,000

Qther payables are an amount repayable to a former shareholder in instalments. No interest is
charged on this balance. The outstanding balance at 30 June 2019 is £13,000 (2018 - £13,000).

19. Obligations under finance leases

Future minimum lease payments due under finance leases:

Group 2019 2018
£ £

Within one year 3,939 4,405
In two to five years 5,988 10,645
9,927 15,050

Less: future finance charges (720) (1,421)
9,207 13,629

Finance lease and hire purchase borrowings are secured against the assets to which they relate.

20, Financial instruments

Market and liquidity risks

Liquidity risk is the risk that the company fails to have sufficient funds to meet Its debts as they
become due. The Group holds funds in short-term bank deposits so thal they are avallable when
required. The liquidity risk of the Group Is managed centrally. Ultimate responsibility for liquidity
risk management rests with the Board of Directors, which regularly monitors the Group’s short-
medium and fong-term funding, and liquidity management requirements. The Group manages
liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash and cash equivalents and by continuously monitoring
forecast and actual cash flows and matching the maturlty profiles of financial assets and llabilities.

Credit risk

During the periad, the Group’s credit risk was primarily attributable to its cash balances, other loans
recelvable, and its trade receivables. Credit risk, is the risk that the counterparty fails to discharge
Its obligation in respect of the instrument. The credit risk on liquid funds is limited as the funds are
held at banks with high credit ratings. The risk to the Group of trade receivables going bad is deemed
relatively low due to the size and stature of the customers the company now trades with. There were
no allowances for debt recovery as at the current or previous perlod end.
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20. Financial instruments (Continued)

Capital management

As described in Note 23 the Group considers its capital to comprise Its ordinary share capital, share
premium, share based payment reserve, and accumulated deficit as its capital reserves. In managing
its capital, the Group’s primary objective is to ensure its continued ability to provide a consistent
return for its equity shareholders through capital growth. In order to achieve this objective, the
Group seeks to commercialise the development which has been undertaken to date, through major
sales in a number of markets.

There have been no significant changes to the Group's capital management objectives, pollcies and
processes In the period nor has there been any change in what the Group considers to be Its capltal.

Exchange rate and interest rate risk
All of the Group’s borrowings are at fixed interest rates. The Group Is therefore not exposed to the
Impact of changes in interest rates in the medium term. The level of debt is reviewed regularly by

the Board.

The majority of purchases are denominated in Sterling. The Group is therefore not materially
exposed to the impact of changes in exchange rates. '

Group 2019 2018

Carrying amount of financial assets
Measured at fair value 1,643,055 1,128,284

Debt instruments measured at amortised cost - -
1,643,055 1,128,284

Carrying amount of financial flabilities
Mecasured at falr value . 671,035 419,956

Measured at amortised cost - -
671,035 419,952

The undiscounted contractual maturity analysis for Group flnancial Instruments is shown below. The
maturity analysis reflects the contractual undiscounted cashflows, Including future interest charges,
which may differ from the carrying value of the liabilitles as at the reporting date.

Financial liabilities Demand and From3to From 12 From2to§ Total
fess than 3 12 months months to years
months . 2 years
Trade and other payables 406,329 - - - 406,329
Loan notes - - - - -
Finance leases 903 2,798 3,939 5,989 13,629
At 30 June 2018 407,232 2,798 3,939 5,989 419,958
Trade and other payables 661,108 - - - 661,108
Loan notes - - - - -
Finance leases 903 2,798 238 5,988 9,927
At 30 June 2019 662,011 2,798 238 5,988 671,035
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21, Daferred tax
—As 3t the year-end there are no deferred tax balances in the group or company (2018 - £nil).

Moavements by category of deferred tax are as follows:

Liability/(asset) Charge to profit or loss Liability/ (asset)
at 1 January 2017 at 30 June 2018
Convertible loan notes 16,810 (16,810) . -
Share options (33,487) 33,487 -
Discounting external
loans 4,133 (4,133) -
Net deferred tax
movement (12,544) 12,544 . -
Company

A deferred tax asset amounting to £1,315,341 (2018: £628,487), in respect of trading losses carried
forward of £7,737,299 (2018: £3,491,592), has not been recognised due to uncertainty over future
profits. .

Group

A deferred tax asset amounting to £2,651,153 (2018: £1,989,103), in respect of trading losses
carried forward of £15,595,016 (2018: £11,050,573), has not been recognised due to uncertainty
over future profits.

22. Retirement benefit schemes

2019 2018
£ £

Charge to profit and loss in respect of defined contribution
schemes 89,633 145,145

A defined contribution pension scheme is operated for all qualifying employees. The assets of the
scheme are held separately from those of the Group in an independently administered fund. At the
petiod end there is a pension creditor of £12,784 (2018 - £16,501).
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23, Share capital

2019 2018
Ordinary share capital

Authorised, allotted and fully paid Number Number
Ordinary shares of 0.1p each 11,406,826 11,406,826
A Ordinary shares of 0.1p each 3,916,450 -
15,323,276 11,406,826
£ £
Ordinary shares of 0.1p each 11,407 11,407
Ordinary 'A’ shares of 0.1p each 3,916 -
15,323 11,407

On 18 January 2019 3,916,450 ordinary ‘A’ shares were Issued for consideration of £1,500,000.

Both classes of shares carry one vote per share and rank pari-passu In respect of dividend. On a
return of assets on liquidation or otherwise (except on a redemption of shares of any class or the
purchase by the company of its own shares) the assets of the company remaining after the payment
of its liabilities shall be distributed amongst shareholders as follows: firstly an amount equal to the
subscription price of the A Ordinary shares shall be paid to the holders of the A Ordinary shares; the
remaining amount of the surplus (if any) shall be paid to shareholders (as if alt shares constituted a

single class) in proportion to the number of such shares held by them.

Reconciliation of movements during the period:

Ordinary
Number
At 1 July 2018 11,406,826
Issue of fully paid shares 3,916,450
At 30 June 2019 15,323,276

No share options became exercisable during the period (2018: nit).

Reserves of the company represent the following:

Share Capital - Shares in the company held by shareholders at a proportional level with equal

voting rights per share.
Share Premium - Excess over share capital of any Investments.
Retained earnings - This comprises the accumulated trading results of the group.

Share-based payment reserve - This reserve comprises the fair value of options share rights
recognised as an expense. Upon exercise of options or performance share rights, any proceeds

received are credited to share capital.
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24. Share options

- Group & Company ~Number of share’ Weighted average

options exercise price
30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June
2019 2018 2019 2018
Number Number £ £
Outstanding at 1 July 2018 . 1,100,427 - 0.94
Granted 344,928 - 0.001 -
Exercised . . - .
Cancelled (57,488)  (937,638) . (1.02)
Forfeited - (162,789) 0.001 (0.48)
Outstanding at 30 June 2019 287,440 - 0.001 -
Exercisable at 30 June 2019 287,440 - -

No options were exercised during the year.

The options outstanding at 30 June 2019 had an exercise price of £0.001 and a remaining contractual
life ranging between July 2019 and July 2029,

The options exist at 30 June 2019 across the following share option schemes:

Number Exercise Fair value Vesting
of shares price per of scheme period
share (£)
Options Issued in July 2018 287,440 0.001 99,720 2.75 years
287,440 99,720

The falr value of the scheme is being expensed over the vesting period. All share options expire 10
years after the date of issue.

Group Company
30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June
2019 2018 2019 2018
: £ £ £ €
Expenses recognised in the year
Arising from equity settled share based
payment transactions 33,679 925,475 33,679 925,475

25. Guarantees and contingent liabilities

At 30 June 2019, the Group and Company had no contingent liabilities (2018 - none). The borrowings
disclosed in Note 18 were secured over the assets of the Group inciuding the Company. The amounts
payable to a former shareholder (2019: £13,000; 2018: £13,000) disclosed in notes 17 and 18 are

guaranteed by the Company.
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26. Operating lease commitments

Lessee

Operating leases relating to land and buildings are on normal commercial terms with no rent-free
perlods or other incentives, and include requirements to restore sites at the end of the agreements
for which amounts have been provided for. Other agreements relate to motor vehicles on terms of

one to three years, with no lease Incentives.

At the reporting end date the Group had outstanding commitments for future minimum lease

payments under non-cancellable operating leases, which fall due as follows:

Group
30 Juna 30 June
2019 2018
£ £
Land and bulldings
Within one year 269,020 255,378
Between two and five years 961,137 1,045,350
In over five years - 139,217
1,230,157 1,439,945
27. Directors’' remuneration and transactions
30 June 30 June
2019 2018
£ £
Remuneration for qualifying services 378,542 738,637
Company pension contributions to defined contribution schemes 15,440 26,200
393,982 764,837

The number of Directors for whom retirement benefits are accruing under defined contribution

schemes amounted to 1 (2018 - 1).

28. Related party transaction

Remuneration of key management personnael

The key management personnel are considered to be the Board of Directors and members, Refer

to note 27 for detalls of key management personnel remuneration.
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29. Subsidiaries

Detalls of the Company's subsidiaries at 30 June 2019 are as follows:

Name of undertaking and Nature of business
countey of incorporation or
residency

Forsite Diagnostics Limited (UK) Manufacturing of diagnostic

devices

Molecular Vision Limited (UK) Consultancy and R&D into a
diagnostics technology
platform

Serascience Limited (UK) Development and sales of

medicat diagnostic devices

Associate
Linear Diagnostics Limited (UK) R&D Into a diagnostics
technology platform

All investments are directly held by the company.

Class of
shareholding
Ordinary shares

Al Preference
shares

Ordinary shares

Ordinary shares

% Held

100%

100%

100%

35%

Forsite Diagnostics Limited and Molecular Vision Limited have the same registered address as noted

on the company information page in these financial statements.

The registered office of Serascience Limited is Newstead House, Pelham Road, Nottingham, NGS

1AP,

The investments in subsidiaries are all stated at cost less Impairment in the financial statements,

30. Ultimate controlling party

In the opinion of the directors, no one party has ultimate control due to shareholding.
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Abingdon Health Limited

Directors' Report for the Year Ended 30 June 2019

The directors present their annual report and flnancial statements for the 12 months ended 30 June
2019,

Priﬁclpal actlvities
The group's principal activity continued to be to develop, manufacture and distribute diagnostic

devices and provide cansultancy services to businesses in the diagnostics sector.

The group has taken advantage of the exceptions set out in Section 414(b) of the Companies Act
2006 which permit it to not prepare a Strategic Report, on the grounds that it qualifies as a small
group.

Directors
The directors who held office during the year and up to the date of signature of the financial

statements were as follows:

Mr M Duckworth
Dr C Hand

Mr R Marlow

Mr C Yates

Results and dividends
The resuits for the year are set out on pages 9 to 15. The directors do not recommend payment of

a dividend (2018: £Nil)
Going concern

The Directors have concluded that It Is necessary to draw attention to the revenue and cost forecasts
in the business plans. In order for the Group and Company to contlnue as a going cancern, there is
a requirement to achleve a certain level of sales. Given the Company is in the early stages of
developing certain products and transferring those to volume contract manufacturing arrangements,
the forecast level of sales in the next 12 months Is subject to inherent uncertainty. If an adequate
sales level cannot be achieved to support the Group and Company, the Directors have the options
to reduce on-going spend or seek additional funding from shareholders or providers of working
capital facilitles. While the Board is confident that it will achieve the required revenue and has a
successful track record In both cutting costs and raising funds, there remains uncertainty as to the
level of sales that will be achieved, the amount of cost reduction that may be required and the
amount of funding that could be ralsed from shareholders or external investors. This combination of
factors represents a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt on the Group and
Company’s abllity to continue as a golng concern. However, based on the relative likelihood of
achieving versus not achieving, the Board believe it is appropriate to continue to adopt the going
concern basis of accounting In preparing these financial statements, These financial statements do
not include the adjustments that would result if the Group and Company were unable to continue as
a going concern,

Principal risks

Market & liquidity risk

This Is covered in the going concern section above and in note 20. The critical challenge facing the
Company is growing revenues to breakeven In a timely fashion, and securing appropriate funding
from shareholders and other sources when required. This risk is regularly monitored by the Board
and operational management.

Caplital risk
On 11 May 2018, the Company compteted a refinancing and all £7,110,000 of outstanding loan notes

were converted Into 2,853,204 ordinary shares. Under the terms of the refinancing, all accrued
interest was waived by the loan note holders.

On 26 July 2018 the Company entered into a new Enterprise Management Incentives Scheme in
favour of some of Its management team. Detatlls shown in note 24.

Fundralsing activity provided the Company with £1.5Sm of additlonal funds which was received on 18
January 2018,
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Abingdon Health Limited

Directors' Report for the Year Ended 30 June 2019 (continued)

Credit risk
The Group typically has cash resources which are held at bank/banks with high credit ratings.
Customer credit is closely monitored. This risk is considered in note 20.

Technology risk

The Group‘s business faces Intense competition from fellow diagnostic companies. Technological
changes could overtake the products being developed by the Group, or the Group may Iincur
substantial costs as a result of disputes with a third party relating to the infringement of IP. This is
managed by an experienced senior management team with support from external consuitants and

advisors where appropriate.

Operatfonal risk
The quality of developments and manufactured products are critical to the success of the business.

This risk is managed through the application of a stringent Quality Management System, Investing
In new equipment, servicing existing equipment and employing a skllled and well-trained work force.

Auditor
In accordance with the company’s articles, a resalution proposing that BDO LLP be reappointed as

auditor of the company will be put at a General Meeting.

Statement of disclosure to auditor

So far as each person who was a director at the date of approving this report is aware, there is no
relevant audit information of which the company’s auditor is unaware. Additionatly, the directors
individually have taken all the necessary steps that they ought to have taken as directors in order
to make themselves aware of all relevant audit information and to establish that the company’s
auditor is aware of that information.

On behalf of the board

Director

Qo DECEWARER 2019.
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Directors’ Responsibilities Statement

The directors are responslble for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements in
accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financlal year. Under
that law the directors have elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with IFRS’s as
adopted by the EU. Under company law the directors must not approve the financial statements
unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the company
and of the profit or loss of the company for that period. In preparing these financial statements,
the directors are required to:

*  select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

* make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

¢ prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to
presume that the company will cantinue in business.

The directors are responsibie for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show
and explain the company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the
financial position of the company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply
with the Companles Act 2006. They are alsa responsible for safeguarding the assets of the company
and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other

Irregularities.
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Independent Auditor’'s Report to members of Abingdon Health
Limited

Qpinion

We have audited the financial statements of Abingdon Health Limited (“the Parent Company") and
its subsidiaries (“the Group”) for the period ended 30 June 2019 which comprise the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, the Consolidated and company balance sheets, the
Consolidated and company statement of changes in equity, the Consolidated statement of cash flows
and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the Group financial
statements is applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by
the European Union. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of
the Parent Company financial statements is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting
Standards, including Financial Reporting Standard 101.

In our opinion:

+ the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s and of the Parent
Company'’s affairs as at 30 June 2019 and of the Group’s loss for the year then ended;

o the Group financlal statements have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as
adopted by the European Union;

« the Parent Company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with United
Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice; and

+ the flnancial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the
Companies Act 2006.

Basis for aplnion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs(UK)) and
applicable law. Our responsibifities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's
responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We are independent of
the Group and the Parent Company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to
our audit of financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard, and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements, We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and approprlate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Material uncertainty related to going concern

We draw attention to note 1.4 to the financial statements, which indicates that as part of a
forecasting exercise performed for the next twelve months from the date of approval of these
financial statements, there remains uncertainty as to the level of sales that will be achieved, the
amount of cost reduction that may be required and the amount of funding that could be raised
from shareholders or external Investors. As stated in note 1.4, these events or conditions indicate
that a material uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt on the Group and parent
company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this
matter.

Other information
The Directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the

information included in the Annual report, other than the financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and,
except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon, '

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other Informatian is materially incansistent with
the financlal statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. [f we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material

6



Abingdon Health Limited

misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material misstatement in the
financial statements or @ material misstatement of the other Information. If, based on the wark we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken In the course of the audit:

the information given in the Directors’ report for the financlal year for which the financlal
statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and

the Directors’ report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the Group and the Parent Company and its
environment obtained in the course of the audit, we have not identified material misstatements in

the Directors’ report.

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in refation to which the Companies
Act 2006 requires us to report to you if, in our opinion:

adequate accounting records have not been kept by the Parent Company, or returns adequate for
our audit have not been received from branches not visited by us; or

the Parent Company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and
returns; or

certain disclosures of Directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or
we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

the directors were not entitled to prepare the financial statements in accordance with the small
companies regime and take advantage of the small companies’ exemptions in preparing the
directors' report and from the requirement to prepare a strategic report.

Responsibilitias of Directors
As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities Statement, the Directors are responsible

for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and falr
view, and for such internal control as the Directors determine Is necessary to enable the
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud

or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Directors are responsible for assessing the Group and
the Parent Company'’s abillty to continue as a golng concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basls of accounting unless the Directars
either intend to liquidate the Group or the Parent Company or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objeclives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a
whole are free from materlal misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion, Reasonable assurance |s a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.
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A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on
the Financial Reporting Council’s website at https://wwve. frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibitities, This
description forms part of our auditor‘s report.

Use of our report

This report is made solely to the Parent Company's members, as a body, in accordance with
Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006. Qur audit work has been undertaken so that we
; might state to the Parent Company’s members those matters we are required to state to them in
an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not
i accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Parent Company and the Parent
Company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have
formed.

Boo LLl_

Mark Langford (Senior Statutory Auditor)
: For and on behalf of BDO LLP, Statutory Auditor
P Leeds
United Kingdom ]
23 Décamzee QY

BDO LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales (with registered number
QC305127).

i
H
H
i
i
i
H
i
N




Abingdon Health Limited

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

For the Year Ended 30 June 2019

Year ended 18 months
30 June ended 30
Notes 2019 June 2018
£ £
Revenue 3 2,277,293 2,268,446
Cost of sales (705,383) (583,090)
Gross profit 1,571,910 1,685,356
Administrative expenses o (3:021,359) _ (6,359,100)
Operating loss 4 (1,449,449} (4,673,744)
Share of operating profit of joint venture - 302
Other income - 61,879
Other gains and losses S - 12,013,941
Interest receivable 8 3,476 8,677
Interest payable 9 (704) (4,347,644)
(Laoss)/ profit baefore taxation (1,446,677) 3,063,411
Taxatlon credit on (loss)/profit 10 205,740 462,168
{Loss)/ profit of the financial year/period (1,240,837) 3,525,579
Other comprehensive income for the year/period net
of tax - -
Total comprehensive income for the year/period (1,240,937) 3,525,579
Attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent (1,240,937) 3,525,579



Abingdon Health Limited

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

As at 30 June 2019

Notes 30 June 30 June
2019 2018
£ £
Non-current assets
Goodwill 12 3,742,411 3,742,411
Other intangible assets 12 779,512 861,321
Property, plant and equipment 13 106,351 115,026
4,628,274 4,718,758
Current assets
Inventories 15 406,414 389,166
Trade and other receivables 16 1,006,696 834,352
Cash and cash equivalents 866,152 476,909
2,279,262 1,700,427
Total assets 6,907,536 6,419,185
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 17 737,896 538,587
Obligations under finance leases 19 3,701 3,701
741,597 542,288
Non-current liabilities
Obligations under finance leases 19 6,226 9,926
6,226 9,826
Total liabilities 747,821 552,214
Net assets 6,159,713 5,866,971
Equity
Attributable to the owners of the parent:-
Share capital 23 15,323 11,407
Share premium account 23 13,195,190 11,699,106
Share based payment reserve 24 33,679 -
Retained earnings {(7,084,479)  (5,843,542)
6,159,713 5,866,971

Total equity

The financial statements were approved by the board of directors and authorised for issue on

.‘Z\Q[lz./lelﬂ... and are signed on Its behalf by:

Mr R Matlow
Director

Company Registration No, 06475379
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Abingdon Health Limited

Company Statement of Financial Position

As at 30 June 2019

Notes 30 June 30 June
2019 2018
£ £ £ £
Non-current assets
Other Intangible assets
12 6,569 20,617
Property, plant and
equipment 13 23,086 20,517
Investment in
subsidiaries 14 418,638 418,638
Investment In assoclates 14 - -
' 448,293 459,772
Current assets
Trade and other
receivables falling due
within one year 16 1,970,838 1,496,001
Cash at bank and in
hand 420,864 261,021
2,391,703 1,757,022
Current liabilities
Trade and other )
_payables 17 208,821 213,920 _
Net current assets 2,182,882 1,543,102
Total assets less
current liabilities 2,631,175 2,002,874
Net assets 2,631,175 2,002,874
Equity
Share capital 23 15,323 11,407
Share premium account 23 13,195,190 11,699,106
Share based payment
reserve 24 33,679 -
Retained earnings (10,613,017) (9,707,639)
Total equity 2,631,175 2,002,874

The Company’s loss after taxation for the year was £905,378 (2018 period loss: £1,041,520).

The financial statements were approved by the board of directors and authorised for issue on
%222, J2su9,... and are signed on its behalf by:

Company Registration No. 06475379
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Abingdon Health Limited

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity for the Year Ended 30

June 2019
Share Share Share Retained Total equity
Capltal pramium based sarnings  attributable
account payment to owners of
reserve the parent
£ £ £ £ £
Balance at 1 January 2017 7,005 10,171,934 99,974 (10,394,570) (115,661)
Period ended 30 June 2018;
Profit and loss - - - 3,525,579 3,525,579
;g:l comprehensive income for the . - . 3,525,579 3,525,579
Issue of share capital 1,549 537,395 - - 538,944
Share option unwinding - - 925,475 - 925,475
Debt-to-equity conversion - share 2,853 989 777 B . 992,630
issue ! R ‘
Debt-to-equity conversion - transfer _ -
from share based payment reserve (1,025,449) 1,025,449
Balance at 30 June 2018 11,407 11,699,106 - (5.843,542) 5,866,971
Year ended 30 June 2019:
Profit and loss — - - - (1,240,937) (1,240,937)
Total comprehensive income for the - - - (1,240,937) (1,240,937)
year
{ssue of share capital 3,916 1,496,084 - - 1,500,000
Share based payments - - 33,679 - 33,679
Balance at 30 June 2019 15,323 13,195,190 33,679 (7,084,479) 6,159,713

12



Abingdon Health Limited

Company Statement of Changes in Equity

For the Year Ended 30 June 2019

Share Share Share Retained Total equity
capitat  premium based earnings attributable
account payment to owners
reserve of the
parent
£ £ £ [ £
Balance at 1 January 2017 7,005 10,171,934 99,974  (9,691,568) 587,345
Period ended 30 June 2018:
Profit and lo0ss - - - (1,041,520) (1,041,520)
Total comprehensive income for
the period - - - (1,041,520) (1,041,520)
Issue of share capital 1,549 $37,395 - - 538,944
Share option unwinding ; 925,475 . 925,475
Debt-to-equity conversion - N .  pe
share issue 2,853 989,777 992,630
Debt-to-equity conversion ~
transfer from share based - - {1,025,449) 1,025,449 -
payment reserve
Balance at 30 June 2018 11,407 11,699,106 (9,707,639) - 2,002,874
Year ended 30 June 2019:
Profit and loss - : - (905,379) (905,379}
Total comprehensive income for - - . (905,379) {905,379)
the year
Issue of share capital 3,916 1,496,084 - - 1,500,000
Share based payments - - 33,679 - 33,679
Balance at 30 June 2019 15,323 13,195,190 33,679 (10,613,018) 2,631,174

13



Abingdon Health Limited

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
For the Year Ended 30 June 2019

Notes 30 June 30 June
2019 2018
[ £
Cash flows from operating activities:
(Loss)/ profit for the year/period (1,240,937) 3,525,579
Adjustments for:
Finance (income)/ costs (2,772) 4,338,967
Loan notes extinguished 5 - (12,013,941)
Tax credit (205,740) (462,168)
Amortisation and impairment of intangible 12 136,144 341,526
assets 33,679 925,475
Share based payment 13 47,550 188,714
Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment
{Profit)/ loss on disposatl of property, plant 13 (13,500) 963
and equipment
Impairment of fixed asset investments 14 - 167,043
Changes in working capital:
Increase in inventories 15 (17,248) (133,095)
(Increase)/ decrease in trade and other 16 (501,376) 401,707
receivables
Increase/ (decrease) in trade and other 17 200,029 (388,082)
payables
Cash used by operations (1,561,171) (3,107,312)
Interest paid 9 (704) (1,503)
Income taxes received 534,779 466,885
Net cash outflow from operating (1,027,096) (2,641,930)
activities
Interest received 8 3,476 8,677
Purchase of intangible assets 12 (57,336) (280,331)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 13 (38,881) (78,354)
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and 13,500 1,021
equipment
Investment in assoclate 14 - (304)
Net cash used In investing activities (79,241) (349,291)

14



Abingdon Health Limited

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
For the Year Ended 30 June 2019

Notes 30 June 30 June
2019 2018
£ £
Financing activities
Proceeds from issue of own shares 1,500,000 538,944
Repayment of bank loans and borrowings 18 - (210,000)
Payment of finance leases obtigations 19 - (4,420) (5,107)
Proceeds from issue of loan notes and new finance
lease - 1,110,000
Net cash generated from financing 1,495,580 1,433,837
Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash ‘
equivalents 389,243  (1,557,384)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the
year/period 476,909 2,034,293
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the

year/period 866,152 476,909
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Abingdon Health Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 30 June 2019

1. Accounting pdllcies

Company information

Abingdon Health Ltd ("the Company"”) is a limited company domiciled and incorporated in England
and Wales. The registered office is National Agri Food Innovation Campus, Sand Hutton, York, YO41
1LZ. The consolidated financial information (or “financial statements") Incorparate the financial
information of the Company and entities (its subsidiaries) controlled by the Company (collectively
comprising the “Group”).

The principal activity of the Group Is to develop, manufacture and distribute diagnostic devices and
provide consultancy services to businesses in the diagnostics sector.

1.1 Accounting convention
These financlal statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRS") as adopted by the European Union, and the requirements of the Companies Act

2006,

The Company has taken advantage of the following disclosure exemptions under FRS 101:

(a) the requirements of IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosure, on the grounds that
equivalent disclosures for financial instruments are presented (n the group accounts of
Abingdon Health Ltd;

(b) the requirements of IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows to present a statement of cash flows;

(c) the requirements of IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures to disclose related party transactions
and balances between two or more members of a group;

(d) the requirements of paragraphs 62, 864(d), B64(e), B64(g), B64(h), B64(j) to B64(m),
B64(n)(ii), B64(0)(fi), B64(q)(li), B66 and B67 of IFRS Business Combinations, for which
equivalent disclosures are Included in the group accounts of Abingdon Health Ltd;

(e) the requirement in paragraph 38 of IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements to present
comparative informatlon in respect of:

(1) paragraph 79(a)(iv) of IAS 1;

(1) paragraph 73(e) of 1AS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment; and

(iil) paragraph 118(e) of IAS 38 Intangible Assets.

(f) the requirements of paragraphs 10(d), 10(f), 39(c) and 134-136 of [AS 1 Presentation of
Financial Statements; and

(g) the requirements of paragraphs 134(d)-134(f) and 135(c)-135(e) of IAS 36 Impairment of
Assets.

_ The financial statements are prepared in pounds sterling, which is the functional currency of the
parent Company. Monetary amounts in these financial statements are rounded to the nearest £1,

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost convention, modified to include
the revaluation of certain financial instruments at fair value. The principal accounting policies
adopted are set out below.

As permitted by s408 Companles Act 2006, the Company has not presented its own Statement of
Comprehensive Income. The Company's loss for the year was £905,378 (2018 loss: £1,041,520).

1.2 Reporting period

These financial statements cover a period of 12 months, whilst the comparative financial information
covers a period of 18 months. This is due to the amended period end providing Improved
management capacity for managing the financial reporting process.
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Abingdon Health Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 30 June 2019

1. Accounting policies (continued)

1.3 Basis of consofidation

The Group financial Information consolidates those of the Company and the subsidiaries that the
Company has control of. Control is established when the Company is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the subsidiary and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the subsidiary.

Where a subsidiary undertaking is acquired/disposed of during the year, the consolidated profits or
losses are recognised from/until the effective date of the acquisition/disposal.

All inter-company balances and transactions between group companies have been eliminated on
consolidation.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial information of subsidiaries to bring the
accounting policies used into line with those used by the Group.

Non-controlling interests, presented as part of equity, represent the portion of a subsidiary’s profit
or loss and net assets that are not held by the Group. The Group attributes total comprehensive
income or loss of subsidiaries between the owners of the parent and the non-controlling interest
based on their respective ownership interests.

The Group applies the acquisition method of accounting for business combinations enacted after the
date of creation of the Group following incorporation of Abingdon Health Ltd, as detailed further
below. The consideration transferred by the Group to obtain control of a subsidiary Is calculated as
the sum of the acquisition-date fair value of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities Incurred by
the Group to the former owners of the acqulree and the equity interest issued by the Group.
Acquisition costs are expensed as incurred.

The Group recognises identifiable assets acqulred and liabilities assumed in a business combination
regardless of whether they have been previously recognised in the acquired subsidiary’s financial
information prior to the acquisition. Assets acquired and llabilities assumed are measured at thelr
acquisition-date fair values. .

Goodwill is stated after separate recognition of identifiable intangible assets. It is calculated as the
excess of the fair value of consideration transferred, over the Group’s share of the acquisition-date
fair values of identifiable net assets. If the fair values of identifiable net assets exceed the sum
calculated above, the excess amount (i.e. gain on a bargain purchase) is recognised in profit or lass
immediately.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of controi, is accounted for as an
equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsldlary, it derecognises the related assets (including goodwill),
liabilities, non-controlling interest and other components of equily while any resultant gain or loss
is recognised in profit or loss. Any investment retained Is recognised at fair value.

Entities other than subsidiary undertakings or joint ventures, in which the Group has a participating
interest and over whose operating and financial policies the Group exercises a significant Influence,
are treated as associates. In the consolidated financlal statements, associates are accounted for
using the equity method.

Entities in which the Group holds an interest and which are jointly controlted by the Group and one

or more other ventures under a contractual arrangement are treated as joint ventures. In the Group
financial statements, joInt ventures are accounted for using the equity method.
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Abingdon Health Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 30 June 2019

1.  Accounting policies (continued)

1.4 Going concern
The Directors have concluded that it is necessary to draw attention to the revenue and cost forecasts

in the business plans. In order for the Group and Company to continue as a going concern, there is
3 requirement to achieve a certain level of sales. Given the Company is in the early stages of
developing certain products and transferring those to volume contract manufacturing arrangements,
the forecast level of sales in the next 12 months Is subject to inherent uncertainty.

If an adequate sales level cannot be achieved to support the Group and Company, the Directors
have the options to reduce on-going spend or seek additional funding from shareholders or providers
of working capital facilities. While the Board is confident that it will achieve the required revenue
and has a successful track record in both cutting costs and raising funds, there remains uncertainty
as to the level of sales that will be achieved, the amount of cost reduction that may be required and
the amount of funding that could be raised from shareholders or external investors. This combination
of factors represents a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt on the Group and
Company’s abllity to continue as a going concern,

However, based on the relative likelihood of achieving versus not achieving, the Board believe it Is
appropriate to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing these financial
statements. These financial statements do not include the adjustments that would result if the Group
and Company were unable to continue as a going concern.

1.5 Revenue
The Group has applied IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from contracts with customers' for the first time in the

current reporting year. Under IFRS 15, the Group applies the 5-step method to identify contracts
with its customers, determine performance obligations arising under those contracts, set an
expected transaction price, allocate that price to the performance obligations, and then recognises
revenues as and when those obligations are satisfied. Under the previous standard (IAS 18) the
Group recognised revenue when the risks and rewards of the goods and services were transferred
to the customer.

The Group has reviewed its contracts with customers and the performance obligations within those
cantracts and has concluded that no change is required to previously reported revenue. However,
the Group has revised its accounting policies compared to those disclosed in the prior year Financial
Statements to reflect the differences between IFRS 15 and IAS 18. The policles below reflect these
revislons.

Long term contracts
Profit 1s recagnised on long term contracts, if the final outcome can be assessed with reasonable

certainty, by including in the profit and loss account turnover and related costs as contract activity
progresses. Revenue Is calculated by reference to the value of work performed to date as a
proportion of the total contract value, .

Government grants

Government grants are recognised based on the accrual model and are measured at the fair value
of the asset received or receivable. Grants are classified as relating elther ta revenue or assets.
Government grants relating to tangible fixed assets are treated as deferred income and released to
the profit and loss account over the expected useful lives of the assets concerned. Other grants are
creadited to the profit and loss account as the related expenditure if incurred. Where part of a grant
relating to an asset Is deferred, it is recognised as deferred income.

Other .
Deferred income arises where services are invoiced in advance of performance. The amount Is
released to the profit or loss in subsequent periods in reference to the stage of completion of the

transaction at the reporting date.
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Abingdon Health Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 30 June 2019

1. Accounting policies (continued)

Where the Group identifies rights to the economic benefits of other sources of income through
fulfilment of certain performance criteria, the income is recognised in the relevant accounting period
when those conditions are fulfilled, net of VAT.

1.6 Inventory

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and estimated selling price less costs to complete and
sell. Cost comprises direct materials and, where applicable, direct labour costs and those overheads
that have been incurred In bringing the stocks to their present location and condition.

At each reporting date, an assessment is made for impairment. Any excess of the carrying amount
of inventories over its estimated selling price less costs to complete and sell Is recognised as an
Impairment loss in profit or loss. Reversals of impairment losses are also recognised in profit or loss.

1.7 Intangible fixed assets - goodwill

Goodwill represents the future economic benefits arising from other assets acquired in a business
combination that are not individually Identifiable and separately recognised. See note 12 for
information on how goodwill is initially determined. After initial recognition, goodwitl is measured at
cost less accumulated impairment losses. See note 12 for a description of impairment testing
procedures.

1.8 ' Intangible fixed assets other than goodwill

Intangible assets are Initially measured at cost. Where intangible assets are acquired as part of a
business combination, cost is determined by reference to a fair value estimation technique as
disclosed further in note 2. After initial recognition, intangible assets are recognised at cost less any
accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.

The depreciable amount of an intangible asset with a finite useful life is allocated on a systematic
basis over its useful life. Amortisation begins when the asset is available for use, I.e. when it is in
the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by
management.

The amortisation perliod and the amortisation method for intangible assets with a finite useful life is
reviewed each financial perlod-end. If the expected useful life of the asset Is different from previous
estimates, the amortisation period is changed accordingly. Useful lives are typically amortised on
the following basis:

Patents and Trademarks 10% straight line
Website Costs 20%-25% straight line
Development Costs 10% stralght line

Amortisation is charged te administrative expenses In the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive
Income. .

Research expenditure is written off against profits in the year in which it is incurred. Identlfiable
development expenditure is capitalised to the extent that the technical, commercial and financial
feasibility can be demonstrated.
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1. Accounting policies (continued)

1.9 Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are recognised as an asset only If it is probable that future economic
benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured

reliably.

An item of property, plant and equipment that qualifies for recognition as an asset is measured at
its cost. Cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises the purchase price, any costs
directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location and conditlon necessary for it to be capable
of operating in the manner intended by management.

After recognition, all property, plant and equipment are carried at costs less any accumulated
depreciation and any accumulated Impairment losses.

Depreciation Is provided at rates calculated to write down the cost of assets, less estimated residual
value, aver their expected useful lives on the following basis:

Plant and machinery 20%-33% straight line
Office equipment 33% straight line
Leasehold improvements Life of the lease

The residual value and the useful life of an asset are reviewed at feast at each financial period-end
and if expectations differ from previous estimates, the changes are accounted for as a change in an
accounting estimate in accordance with IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates
and Errors.

Gains or losses arising on the disposal of property, plant and equlpment are determined as the
difference between the disposal proceeds and the carrying value of the asset and are recognised in

profit or loss.

1.10 Non-current investments
A subsidiary is an entity controlled by the Group. Control is the power to govern the financial and

operating policies of the entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

Entities in which the company has a long term interest and shares control under a contractual
arrangement are classified as jointly controlled entities.

1.11 Impairment of non-cucrent assets

For impairment assessment purposes, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are
largely independent cash flows. As a result, some assets are tested individually for impairment and
some are tested at cash-generating unit level. Goodwill is allocated to those cash-generating units
that are expected to benefit from synergies of the related business combination and represent the
lowest level within the Group at which management monitors goodwill.

Cash-generating units to which goodwill has been allocated are tested for impairment at least
annually. All other individual assets or cash-generating units are tested for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.

An asset or cash-generating unit is impalred when Its carrying amount exceeds its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is measured as the higher of fair value less cost of disposatl and
value in use. The value in use is calculated as being net projected cash flows based on financial
forecasts discounted back to present value.
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1. Accounting policies (continued)
1.11 Impairment of non-current assets (continued)

The impairment loss is allocated to reduce the carrying amount of the asset, first against the carrying
amount of any goodwilll allocated to the cash-generating unit, and then to the other assets of the
unit pro-rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. With the exception of
goodwill, all assets are subsequently reassessed for indications that an impairment loss previously
recognised may no longer exist. An impairment loss is reversed if the asset’s or cash-generating
unil’s recoverable amount exceeds Its carrying amount.

1.12 Financial instruments

Financial assets
Financlal assets are recognised in the statement of financial position when, and only when, the Group

becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

All financial assets excluding investments are classified as loans and receivables; these comprise
trade and other receivables and cash and cash equivalents. Loans and receivables are non-derivative
financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market.

Financial assets are initially recognised at fair value plus directly attributable transaction costs.
After initlal recognition, loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method, Discounting is omitted where the effect of discounting is immateriaf.

If there Is objective evidence that there Is an impalrment loss on loans and recelvables, the amount
of the loss Is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrylng amount and the present value
of estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial asset's original effective interest rate (i.e.
the effective interest rate computed at initial recognlition). The carrylng amount of the asset is
reduced either directly or through use of an allowance account.

A financial asset is derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial
asset expire, or when the financial asset and all substantial risks and rewards are transferred,

Financial assets held for trading

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets held for trading and
financlal assets designated upon initlal recognition at falr value through profit or loss. Financial assets
are classlified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selling in the near term. This
category Includes derivative financial instruments entered Into by the Company that are not
designated as hedging instruments in hedge relationships as defined by IFRS 9. The Company has
not designated any financial assets upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss.

Derlvatives, including separated embedded derivatives, are also classified as held far trading unless
they are designated as effective hedging instruments.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the Statement of Financial Position
at fair value with changes in fair value recognised In finance revenue or finance expense in the
Statement of Comprehensive Income.
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1. Accounting policies (continued)
1.12  Financial instruments (continued)

Impairment of financial assets
Financial assets, other than those held at fair value through profit and loss, are assessed for

indicators of impairment at each reporting end date.

Financial assets are impaired where there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more
events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash
flows have been affected. If an asset is impaired, the impairment loss is the difference between the
carrylng amount and the present value of the estimated cash flows discounted at the asset’s original
effective interest rate. The Impairment loss is recognised in profit or foss.

If there is a decrease in the impairment loss arising from an event occurring after the impairment
was recognised, the impairment is reversed. The reversal is such that the current carrying amount
does not exceed what the carrying amount would have been, had the impaltment not previously
been recognised. The impairment reversal is recognised in profit or {oss.

Derecognition of financial assets

Financial assets are derecognised only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire or are settled, or when the Group transfers the financial asset and substantially ail the risks
and rewards of ownership to another entlty, or if some significant risks and rewards of ownership
are retained but control of the asset has transferred to another party that is able to sell the asset In

its entirety to an unrelated third party.

Clagsification of financial liabilities
Financial liabilities include borrowings and trade and other payables,

Financial llabllities are obligations to pay cash or other financial assets and are recognised in the
statement of financial position when, and only when, the Group becomes a party to the contractual

provisions of the instrument.

Financial liabilitles are Initially recognised at fair value adjusted for any directly attributable
transaction costs.

After initial recognition, financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method, with the effective interest recognised as an expense in finance costs.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
Financial liabllittes are derecognised when the Group's contractual obligations expire or are

discharged or cancelled.

1.13 Equity instruments
Share capital represents the nominal value of shares that have been issued.

Share premium represents the excess consideration received over share capital upon the sale of
shares, less any incidental costs of issue.

Retained earnings include all current and prior period retained profits.

The non-controlling Interest represents the portion of equity ownership in subsidiaries which Is not
attributable to the owners of the Company.

Equity instruments issued by the group are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue
costs, Dividends payable on equity instruments are recognised as liabilities once they are no longer
at the discretion of the group.
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1. Accounting policies (continued)

1.13 Equity instruments (continued)

The fair value of equity-settled share based payments to employees is determined at the date of
grant and Is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period based on the Group's estimate
of shares or opt:ons that will eventually vest. Full disclosure of the calculation models is given in

note 24.

1.14 Taxation
The tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax,

Current tax

The tax currently payabte is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from net profit
as reported In the income statement because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively

enacted by the reporting end date,

Deferred tax
Deferred taxes are calculated using the fiability method on temporary differences between the

carrying amounts of assets and liabllities and their tax bases.

A deferred tax asset Is recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary difference can
be utilised, unless the deferred tax asset arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in
3 transaction that is not a business combination and at the time of the transaction, affects neither
accounting profit nor taxable profit (tax loss). However, for deductible temporary differences
associated with Investments in subsidiaries a deferred tax asset is recognised when the tempaorary
difference will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit wm be available against which the

temporary difference can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that arc expected to apply to the
period when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reparting perlod.

1.15 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a legal or constructive present obligation as a resuit
of a past event, it is probabte that the Group will be required to settie thal obligation and a reliabie
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as 8 provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the
present obligation at the reporting end date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation.

Where the effect of the time vaiue of money is material, the amount expected to be required to
settle the obligation Is recognised at present value. When a provision in measured at present value
the unwinding of the discount is recognised as a finance cost in profit or loss in the period it arises.

1,16 Employee benefits
The costs of short-term employee benefits are recognised as a liabllity and an expense, unless those
costs are required to be recognised as part of the cost of stock or non-current assets.

The cost of any unused holiday entitlement Is recognised in the period in which the employee’s
services are recelved.

Termination benefits are recognised immediately as an expense when the Company is demonstrably
committed to terminate the employment of an employec or to provide termination benefits.
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Abingdon Health Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 30 June 2019

1. Accounting policies (continued)
1.17. Retirement benefits

Pa\}ments to defined contribution retirement benefit schemes are charged as an expense as they fall
due.

1.18 Share-based payments

The fair value of equity-settled share based payments to employees is determined at the date of
grant and Is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period based on the Group’s estimate
of shares or options that will eventually vest. Full disclosure of the calculation models is given In

note 24. -

1.18 Leases

The economic ownership of a leased asset is transferred to the lessee if the lessee bears substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the leased asset. Where the Group is a lessee in this type
of arrangement, the related asset is recognised at the inception of the lease at the fair value of the
leased asset or, if lower, the present value of the lease payments plus incidental payments, if any.
A corresponding amount is recognised as a finance lease Hability.

This liabifity is reduced by lease payments net of finance charges. The interest element of lease
payments represents a constant proportion of the outstanding capital balance and is charged to
profit or loss, as finance costs over the period of the lease,

Rentals payable under operating leases, including any lease Incentives received, are charged to
income on a straight line basis over the term of the relevant lease except where another more
systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the

lease asset are consumed.
1.19 Standards, amendments and interpretations in issue and adopted for the first time

The current standards, amendments and interpretations have been adopted in the period and have
not had a material impact on the Group and Company's financial statements:

¢ Amendments to IAS 40 ‘Investment Property’ for transfers of investment property

» IFRS 15 'Revenue from Contracts with Customers’, including clarifications made to the
standard since initiaf release

e IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’

» [FRIC 22 ‘Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration’

« Amendments to IFRS 2 ‘Share-based Payment’ for classification and measurement of share-
based payment transactions

« Amendments to IFRS 4 ‘Insurance Contracts’ around interaction with IFRS 9

The disclosure requirements of the group have been revised to comply with the. updated

requirements of IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’ but the group has not otherwise adjusted the carrying
value of its assets or liabilities at either reporting date.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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1. Accounting policies (continued)

-1.20 Standards, amendments and interpretations in issue but not yet effective

At the authorisation of these financial statements, the Group has not applied the following new and
revised standards that have been issued but are not effective yet and in some cases have not been
adopted by the EU:
) EU effective date -

period beginning on or

after
IFRS 16 ‘Leases’ ’ 1 January 2019
Annual improvements to IFRS’s (2015 ~ 2017) ~ 1lJanuary 2019 *

IFRS 17 ‘Insurance Contracts’ and subsequent withdrawal of IFRS 1 January 2021 *
4 'Insurance Contracts’

Amendments to [FRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’ for prepayment 1 January 2019
features with negative compensation
Amendments to [AS 28 ‘Investments in Associates and Joint 1 January 2019

Ventures’ for long term interests in associates and joint ventures

Amendments to IAS 19 ‘Employee benefits’ for plan amendments, 1 January 2019
curtaitments and settlements

Amendments to IFRS 3 'Business comblnations’ for previously held 1 January 2019
interests in a joint operation

Amendments to IFRS 11 ‘Joint arrangements’ for previously held 1 January 2019
interests in a joint operation

Amendments to IAS 12 ‘Income taxes’ for the income tax 1 January 2019
consequences of payments on financial instruments classified as

equlity

Amendments to 1AS 23 ‘Borrowing costs’ around borrowing costs 1 January 2019
eliglble for capitalisation

l\FRIC 23 'Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments’ 1 Janvary 2019
Amendments to IFRS 3 ‘Business combinations’ around the 1 January 2020
definition of a business

Amendments to 1AS 1 ‘Presentation of financlal statements’ and 1 January 2020

IAS 8 ‘Accounting policies, changes in accounting estimates and
errors’ for the definition of material

The Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting 1 January 2020
IFRS 17 ‘Insurance Contracts’ 1 January 2021

* These standards, amendments and interpretations have not yet been endorsed by the €U and
the dates shown are the expected dates.

The directors have reviewed the impact of IFRS 16 ‘Leases’ and expect this to have a material impact
on the financial statements. As at the current period end, it is expected that the implementation of
IFRS 16 will create right of use assets with carrying value £374,239 and associated lease llabilities
of £404,513, with current period reported profits being increased by £10,682 for adjustments in
respect of derecognising operating lease rentals, and recognising depreciation on right of use assets
and finance costs an the lease.
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2 Judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make
judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts
of assets and liabilities, Income and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions are based
on historical experience and various other factors that are belleved to be reasonable under the
tircumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the judgements about carrying values
of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ
from these estimates,

Estimates and underlying assumptlans are revlewed on an ongoing basls. Revislons to accounting
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate Is revised and in any future perlods

affected.

Critical judgements
The following judgements (apart from those involving estimates) have had the most significant effect

on amounts recognised in the financlal statements:

Going concern .
The accounts are prepared on the going concern basis, despite significant level of retained losses.

Further expianation of this judgement is provided in note 1.4.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The estimates and assumptions which have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the

carrying amount of assets and liabilities are as follows:

Weighted Average Cast of Capital
Where discounting is required by accounting standards, it is necessary to make estimates in respect
of matters including the Company’s cost of equity and debt. The estimates are updated when the

inputs are deemed to have changed.

Valuation of intangible assets (Group 2019: £779,512; 2018: £861,321)

Management judgement is required to estimate the usefy! lives of intangible assets, having reference
to future economic benefits expected to be derived from use of the asset. Economic benefits are
based on the fair values of estimated future cash flows. See Note 12,

Impairment of goodwill (Group 2019: £3,742,411; 2018: £3,742,411)

Goodwilll is tested annually for impairment. The test cansiders future cash flow projections of cash-
generating units that give rise to the goodwill. Where the discounted cash flows are less than the
carrying value of goodwill, an impairment charge is recognised for the difference. Further analysis
of the estimates and judgements is disclosed in Note 12.

Deferred tax assets (Group 2019: £nil; 2018: £nil)
Management judgement Is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be

recognised, based upon the fikely timing and level of future taxable profits together with an
assessment of the effect of future tax planning strategles and having regard to thelr strategic
planning processes when making these judgements. Further details are contained in Note 21.

Share based payments
The determination of the fair values of EMI options has been made by reference to the Black-Scholes

model with the inputs set out In Note 24,
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3. Revenue

IFRS 8, Operating Segments, requires operating segments to be Identified on the basis of internal
reports of the Group that are regularly reviewed by the Group’s chief operating decision maker. The
chief operating decislon maker of the Group is considered to be the Board of Directors.

The Group has operating segments:

e Clinical Sales: this comprises of the sale of Seralite products for monitoring multiple
myeloma.

* Contract Services: this comprises contract development and manufacturing activities.

¢ Product Sales: this comprises the sale of Pocket Diagnostic products, PCRD tests and
antibodies for research use.

« Other Income: being revenue for ad hoc services including revenues from grants.

Due to the specific nature of the Group’s market, each component of revenue naturally falis within
one of these segments, The operating segments are manitored by the Group's chief operating
decision maker and strategic decisions are made on the basis of adjusted segment operating results.
All assets, liabllities and revenues are located in, or derived in, the United Kingdom.

Margins, overheads and balance sheet items are not broken down into the operating segments but
are reviewed on a consolidated basis.

During the year the Group had 4 (2018 ~ 2) customers with turnover comprising between 10% and
20% of Group revenue. In each case a contract is in place for the services provided. Whilst all the
key customers have been important In enabling the Company to generate revenue growth in key
areas and future expected growth, none of them have been considered as critical factors in the
directors’ assessment of going concern.

Segmental analysis of revenue
Year ended 18 months
2019 ended 2018

£ £
Clinical sales : 376,300 234,007
Contract services 1,539,446 1,654,696
Product sales 191,676 344,766
Other income 169,871 34,977

2,277,293 2,268,446

Revenue analysed by geographical market
: Year ended 18 months

2019 ended 2018

£ £
United Kingdom 1,381,455 1,232,245
Europe 739,575 857,754
Rest of World 156,263 178,447

2,277,293 2,268,446
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4. Operating costs
Year ended 18 months

2019 ended 2018

£ £
Operating loss for the period is stated after
charging/(crediting):
Grant income (168,371) (14,099)
Depreciation of owned property, plant and equipment 47,550 173,525
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment held under
finance leases - 15,200
Cost of inventories recognised as an expense 655,289 541,605
Impairment of inventories 10,129 6,617
Research costs expensed 210,731 285,043
Amaortisation and impairment aof intangible assets 139,144 341,526
Operating lease charges (rent) 308,848 499,524
5. Other Gains and Losses
Year ended 18 months
2019 ended 2018
£ £
Loan notes extinguished - 12,013,941

The prior year gains reported in the Statement of Comprehensive Income have been caiculated in
accordance with IFRIC 19, which permits the difference between the fair value of the equlty Issued
and the falr value of labilities extinguished to be recognised as a galn within the Income Statement.
The liabilitles extinguished represented loan notes with Interest on the face value of the loan, and a
75% redemption premium, previously accounted for using the amortised cost method, which were
exchanged for a new issue of share capital with assaclated premium, with the premium determined
through a fair value calculation of the company determined after adjustment for elimination of the
loan. The reclassification consists of a change in measurement basis from amortised cost accounting
to fair value as at transfer date. The company has not retained any liabllity to the loan note holders
following the conversion of the loan notes.

The present value of the loan notes as at 31 December 2016 was £7,553,537 and new loan notes
were issued In October 2017 amounting to £1,110,000. Interest on these balances have been
unwound at a rate of 37.75% , being the Internal rate of return taking into account the 75%
redemption premium attached to the notes. Interest has therefore been calculated up until the point
in which the notes were converted, being 11 May 2018, amounting to £4,343,034, with this interest
being recognised as a finance expense in note 9. The difference between the present value of the
loan notes as at this date and the fair value of equity converted, being £13,006,571 and £992,630
respectlvely, results in a gain realised of £12,013,941 which is presented within the Consolidated
Statement of Comprehensive Income. .
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6. Auditor’s remuneration

Fees payable to the Company's auditor and its assoclates:

For audit services

Audit of the financial statements of the Group ang Company

For non-audit services
Tax advice for the Group

7. Employees

Year ended 18 months
2019 ended 2018

£ £

19,750 20,500
11,750 29,750

The average monthly number of persons (Including Directors) employed by the Group during the

year was:

Production
Research
Management and administration

On a full-time equivalent basis, there were 39 (2018 -~ 47) employees during the year.

Thelr aggregate remuneration comprised:

Wages and salaries

Social security costs

Pension costs

Share based payment expense

Year ended 18 months
2019 ended 2018
Number Number

13 12

14 20

17 18

44 50

Year ended 18 months
2019 ended 2018

£ £

1,930,278 3,461,063
200,497 359,261
89,633 145,145
33,679 925,475
2,254,087 4,890,944

Detalls of Directors’ remuneration are provided in note 27.

The total cost of employee remuneration Includes £57,336 (2018 - £272,388) of costs which have
been on development projects, and which have accordingly been capitallsed as an intangible asset,

shown further in note 12.
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8. Finance Income

Interest income

Bank interest receivable

9, Finance costs

Interest on financial liabllities measured at amortised

cost:
Interest on bank overdrafts and loan notes
Interest on finance leases

10. Taxation

Current tax

UK Corpaoration tax on profits for the current period
Adjustments In respect of prior periods

Total current tax

Deferred tax
Origination and reversal of temporary differences

Total deferred tax

Total tax credit

30

Year ended 18 months
2019 ended 2018

£ £

3,476 8,677

3,476 8,677

Year ended 18 months
2019 ended 2018

£ £

- 4,346,141

704 1,503

704 4,347,644

Year ended 18 months
2019 ended 2018

£ £

205,740 474,712
205,740 474,712

- (12,544)

= (12,544)

205,740 462,168




Abingdon Health Limited

10. Taxation (continued)

The charge for the period can be reconciled to the profit per the Consolidated Statement of
Compretensive Income as follows:

Year ended 18 months

2019 ended 2018

£ £

(Loss)/profit baefore taxation (1,446,677) 3,063,411
Expected tax (credit)/charge based on a carporation tax rate of

19% (274,867) 587,098

Tax effect of expenses that are not deductible in determining

taxable profit 269,876 (599,642)

Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses not previously recognised - -

Research and development tax credits 210,731 474,712

Total tax credit 205,740 462,168

A reduction in the UK corporation tax rate from 20% to 19% (effective from 1 April 2017) was
substantively enacted in October 2015, Further reduction to 17% (effective from 1 Aprit 2020) was
substantively enacted in September 2016. These rates have therefore been considered when
calculating deferred tax at the reporting date. Deferred tax balances at the reporting date are
measured at 17% (2018: 18%), except for on share options which are expected to be exercised
before 1 April 2020 and as such are measured at 19%.

11. Dividends

No dividends were paid In the current or prior period.
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12. Goodwill and other intangible assets

Group Patents and Development

Goodwill trademarks Website costs Total

£ £ £ £ £

Cost
At 1 July 2018 3,742,411 32,141 83,191 1,359,889 5,217,632
Additions - - - 57,336 57,336
Disposals R - - o - -
As 30 June 2019 3,742,411 32,141 83,191 1,417,225 5,274,868
Amortisation and impairment
At 1 July 2018 - 21,103 69,778 523,020 613,901
Amortisation charged for
the year - 1,310 12,738 125,096 139,144
Disposals - ~ - - -
At 30 June 2019 - 22,413 82,516 648,116 753,045
Carrying amount
At 30 June 2019 3,742,411 9,728 675 769,108 4,521,923
At 1 July 2018 3,742,411 11,038 13,413 836,870 4,603,730

The Group tests goodwill annually for impairment, or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the asset might be Impalred. Goadwill is assessed for impairment by
comparing the carrying values with the value-in-use calculation, which Is determined by calculating
the net present value (NPV) of future cash flows arising fram the original acquired business.

The carrying amount of goodwilll is indicated In the table above. The net book value of goodwill above
for Forsite Diagnostics Limited amounts to £763,143 (2018: £763,143), for Serascience Limited
amaunts to £2,979,268 (2018: £2,979,268) and Molecular Vision Limited £nil (2018: £nil). Due to
the nature of the operatlons the recoverable amount of Forsite Diagnostics and Serascience has
been considered to make up one cash generating unit, this recoverable amount has been determined
based on a value in use calculation using cash flow projections based on the actual results for the
year ended 30 June 2019 and the financlal forecasts prepared by the Board covering the period to
30 June 2022, with projected cash flows through to June 2022 based on the growth rates forecast
by management based on the maturity of the respective divisions. A growth rate of 3% has been
used. A pre-tax discount rate of 11.0% has been used.

A 32.5% reduction In revenue growth rates over the next 3 years combined with a 20% reduction
In terminal growth rate and a 1.5% Increase in pre-tax discount rate would reduce the headroom in
the base case Impairment model to zero. A failure to achieve the expected revenue growth could
therefore make an impairment to goodwill reasonably possible.
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12. Goodwill and other intangible assets (continued)

As a resuit of this review, there has been no impairment to the carrying value of goodwilt or
intangibles.

The carrying amounts of goodwill have been assigned to the following cash-generating units:

Group
- 30 June 30 June
2019 2018
Clinical and contract services 3,742,411 3,742,411

3,742,411 3,742,411

Company
Website Lease costs Total
£ £ £

Cost
At 1 July 2018 78,923 9,169 88,092
Additions - separately acquired - - -
Disposals - - -
As 30 June 2019 78,923 9,169 88,092
Amortisation and impairment
At 1 July 2018 65,510 1,965 67,475
Amortisation charged for the period 12,738 1,310 14,048
Disposais
AE 30 June 2019 78,248 3,275 81,523
Carrying amount
At 30 June 2019 675 5,894 6,569
At 30 June 2018 13,413 7,204 20,617




Abingdon Health Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 30 June 2019

13. Property, plant and equipment

Group

Cost

At 1 July 2018
Additions
Disposals

At 30 June 2019

Depreciation and impairment
At 1 July 2018

Depreciation charged in the pertod
Eliminated In respect of disposals
At 30 June 2019

Carrying amount
At 30 June 2019

At 30 June 2018

Improvemsems
to feasehold Plant and Office

property machinery equipment Total
£ £ £ £
30,331 1,116,116 110,974 1,257,421
- 24,655 14,226 38,881

- (49,073) - . {49,073)
30,331 _ 1,091,698 125,200 1,247,229
21,375 1,023,036 97,990 1,142,401
3,583 34,471 9,496 47,550

- (49,073) - (49,073)
24,958 1,008,434 107,486 1,140,878
5373 83,264 17,714 106,351
8,956 93,087 12,983 115,026

The net carrying value of property, plant and equipment includes the following in respect of assets
held under finance leases or hire purchase contracts, which are secured by the lessors' title to the
assets. The depreciation charge in respect of such assets amounted to £nit (2018 - £19,000) for the
period. These assets were fully depreciated at the end of 2018,

Company

Cost

At 1 July 2018
Additions
Disposals

At 30 June 2018

Depreciation and impairment
At 1 July 2018

Depreciation charged in the period
Disposals

At 30 June 2019

Carrying amount
At 30 June 2019

At 30 June 2018

Improvements to

teasehold Office
property eguipment Total
£ £ £
14,330 62,512 76,842
- 14,226 14,226
14,330 76,738 91,068
5,374 50,951 56,325
3,583 8,074 11,657
8,957 59,025 67,982
5,373 17,713 23,086
8,956 11,561 20,517
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14.  Investments

Carrying amount
At 30 June 2019

At 30 June 2018

~-— Group
2019 2018
£ £ .
Investments in assaciates - R
Company
2019 2018
£ £
Investments in subsldiaries 418,638 418,638
Investments In associates . - .
418,638 418,638
Movements in investment - Company Assoclates
[
Share of net assets
At 1 July 2018 167,043
Additions -
Disposals e
At 30 June 2019 167,043
Impairment
At 1 July 2018 167,043
Impairment during the year =
At 30 June 2019 167,043

As at 31 December 2016 and 30 June 2018 the company held 35% of the shares of Linear
Diagnostics Limited (“"LDL"), its assoclate. LDL is an early stage diagnostic technology company, As
a result of uncertainty about the commercial potential of LDL's technology, the company has written
down the value of its investment (£167,043) and loans (£176,197) to LDL to £nil. LDL completed a
fundraising post-year end and all loans were converted to equity as part of this fundraising. Post-

fundraising, Abingdon Health held 18% of the shares of LOL.

The company has unrecognised losses for the year of £81 520 (2018: £30,795) and cumulative

unrécognised losses of £103,938 (2018: £22,418),

Details of subsidiaries are included in Note 29.
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14. Investments (continued)

Summarised Financial Information ~ Linear Diagnostics Limited

2019 2018
£ £
Non-current assets 315,083 1,036
Current assets : 26,584 102,450
Current liabilities (99,458) (23,193)
Non-current liabilities (924,584) (763,360)
Net Liabilities (682,375) (688,067)
Revenue 31,853 71,253
Loss after tax ) (232,916) (338,191)
Mavements in Investments ) Equity Investments in Total
Company investments in associates
subgidiaries
£ £ £
Cost or valuation
At 1 July 2018 6,238,741 167,043 6,405,784
Additions - - -
Disposals - b -
At 30 June 2019 6,238,741 167,043 6,405,784
Impairment
At 1 July 2018 5,820,103 167,043 5,987,146
Provision for impairment - - -
Disposals - ot -
At 30 June 2019 5,820,103 167,043 5,987,146
Carrying amount
At 30 June 2019 418,638 - 418,638
At 30 June 2018 418,638 - 418,638
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15. Inventories

2019 2018— -
Group £ £
Raw materials 338,154 248,518
Work in progress 32,968 53,782
Finished goods . 35,292 86,866
406,414 389,166
2019 2018
Company £ £
Inventorles ‘ - -

16. Trade and other receivables

Group 2019 2018
Amounts falling due within one year: £ £
Trade receivables 422,518 96,006
Other receivables and prepayments 584,178 738,346
1,006,696 834,352

Trade receivables at the reporting date are shown above net of provisions. Expected credit losses
for the following 12 months have heen estimated in accordance with IFRS 9, taking into account
that there has been no significant increase In credlt risk. Given the stralghtforward nature of the
group's recelvables, the directors consider that the group qualifies for Stage 1 impairment models
which permit the simplified recognition of credit losses arising from default events that are possible
within the next 12 months only.

Trade receivables are stated net of impairment for estimated irrecoverable amounts of £26,238
(2018: £26,238). This impairment has been determined by reference to past default experience and
known issues. Write offs are made when the irrecoverable amount becomes certain. The Directors
consider that the carrying amount of trade and other receivables approximates to their fair vaiue.

Included within prepayments and accrued income is an amount of £42,363 (2018 - £nil) refating to
contract assets, calculated In accordance with IFRS 15.

Movement on the allowance for irrecoverable amounts on trade receivables are as follows:

2019 2018

£ £

Beginning of the period 26,238 26,238
Provision for bad receivables 8,400 28,010
Released during the period (8,400) (28,010)
End of the year/period 26,238 26,238
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16. Trade and other receivables (Continued)

An analysis of the trade debtors past due but not impaired is:

2019 2018

£ £

60 to 120 days 5,581 4,800

More than 120 days 76,856 51,605

Less provision (26,238) (26,238)

Total trade debtors past due but not impaired 56,199 30,167
Add:

Less than 60 days 366,319 65,839

Net trade receivables 422,518 96,006

The Directors consider the credit quality of trade and other receivables that are neither past due nor
impaired to be good.

Company 2019 . 2018
Amounts falling due within one year: £ B -
Trade receivables . -
Other receivables and prepayments 229,968 21,737
Amounts due from subsidiaries 1,740,870 1,474,264

1,970,838 1,496,001

17. Current trade and other payables

Group 2019 2018
£ £

Trade payables ) 431,106 215,652
Current tax liabilities 76,786 132,258
Other payables 230,004 190,677
737,896 538,587

Other payables include £13,000 repayable to a former shareholder in instalments (2018: £13,000)
Further information is provided in Note 18.

Included within accruals and deferred income is an amount of £75,094 (2018 ~ £nil) relating to
deferred revenues, calculated in accordance with IFRS 15.

Company . 2019 2018
£ [

Trade pavables 131,178 63,306
Current tax liabilities 39,228 113,329
Other payables 38,415 37,285
208,821 213,920
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18. Borrowings

Group 2019 2018
: £ - £

Other payables : 13,000 13,000
. ...13,000 13,000

Payable within one year 13,000 13,000

Payable between one and two years
Payable between two and five years - -

13,000 13,000

Other payables are an amount repayable to a former shareholder in instalments. No interest is
charged on this balance. The outstanding balance at 30 June 2019 is £13,000 (2018 - £13,000).

19. Obligations under finance leases

Future minimum lease payments due under finance leases:

Group 2019 2018
£ £

Within one year . 3,939 4,405
In two to five years 5,988 10,645
9,927 15,050

Less: future finance charges (720) (1,421)
9,207 13,629

Finance lease and hire purchase borrowings are secured against the assets to which they relate.

20, Financial instruments

Market and liquidity risks

Liqulidity risk is the risk that the company fails to have sufficient funds to meet its debts as they
become due. The Group holds funds in short-term bank deposits so that they are avallable when
required. The liquidity risk of the Group Is managed centrally. Ultimate responsibility for liquidity
risk management rests with the Board of Directors, which regularly monitors the Group's short-
medium and long-term funding, and liquidity management requirements. The Group manages
liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash and cash equivalents and by continuously monitoring
forecast and actual cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and labilities.

Credit risk

During the period, the Group’s credit risk was primarily attributable to its cash balances, other loans
receivable, and its trade receivables. Credit risk, is the risk that the counterparty fails to discharge
its obligation in respect of the instrument. The credit risk on liquid funds is limited as the funds are
held at banks with high credit ratings. The risk to the Group of trade receivables going bad is deemed
relatively low due to the size and stature of the customers the company now trades with. There were
no allowances for debt recovery as at the current or previous perlod end.

39



Abingdon Health Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 30 June 2019

20. Financial Instruments (Continuved)

Capital management

As described in Note 23 the Group conslders its capital to comprise its ordinary share capital, share
premium, share based payment reserve, and accumulated deficit as its capital reserves. In managing
its capital, the Group's primary objectlve Is to ensure its continued ability to provide a consistent
return for its equity shareholders through capital growth. In order to achieve this objective, the
Group seeks to commercialise the development which has been undertaken to date, through major
sales in a number of markets.

There have been no significant changes to the Group's capital management objectives, policies and
processes In the period nor has there been any change in what the Group considers to be its capital.

Exchange rate and interest rate risk
All of the Group's borrowings are at fixed interest rates. The Group is therefore not exposed to the
Impact of changes in interest rates in the medium term. The level of debt is reviewed regularly by

the Board.

The majority of purcﬁases are denominated in Sterling. The Group is therefore not materlally
exposed to the impact of changes in exchange rates. ‘

Group : . 2019 2018

Carrying amount of financial assets
Measured at fair value 1,643,055 1,128,284

Debt instruments measured at amortised cost - -
1,643,055 1,128,284

Carrying amount of financial llabilities
Mcasured at falr value 671,035 419,956

Measured at amortised cost - -
671,035 419,952

The undiscounted contractual maturity analysis for Group financial instruments is shown below. The
maturlty analysis reflects the contractual undiscounted cashflows, Including future interest charges,
which may differ from the carrying value of the liabilities as at the reporting date,

Financial liabilities Demand and From 3 to From 12 From2to 5 Total
tess than 3 12 months months to years
months 2 years
Trade and other payables 406,329 - - - 406,329
Loan notes - - = - -
Finance leases 903 2,798 3,939 5,989 13,629
At 30 June 2018 407,232 2,798 3,939 5,989 419,958
Trade and other payables 661,108 - - - 661,108
Loan notes - - - - -
Finance leases 903 2,798 238 5,988 9,927
At 30 June 2019 662 011 2,798 238 5,988 671,035
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21, Deferred tax
‘~—As at the year-end there are no deferred tax balances in the group or company (2018 - £nll).

Movements by category of deferred tax are as follows:

Liability/(asset) Charge to profit or loss Liability/(asset)
at 1 January 2017 at 30 June 2018
Convertible loan notes 16,810 (16,810) ’ -
Share options {33,487) 33,487 -
Discounting external
loans 4,133 (4,133) -
Net deferred tax
movement (12,544) 12,544 -
Campany

A deferred tax asset amounting to £1,315,341 (2018: £628,487), in respect of trading losses carried
forward of £7,737,299 (2018: £3,491,592), has not been recognised due to uncertainty over future
profits.

Group

A deferred tax asset amounting to £2,651,153 (2018: £1,989,103), in respect of trading losses
carried forward of £15,595,016 (2018: £11,050,573), has not been recognised due to uncertainty
over future profits.

22. Retirement benefit schemes

2019 2018
£ £

Charge to profit and loss in respect of defined contribution v
schemes 89,633 145,145

A defined contribution pension scheme is operated for all qualifying employees. The assets of the
scheme are held separately from those of the Group In an independently administered fund. At the
period end there is a pension creditor of £12,784 (2018 - £16,501).
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23. Share capital

2019 2018
Ordinary share capital

Authorised, allotted and fully paid Number Number
Ordinary shares of 0.1p each 11,406,826 11,406,826
A Ordinary shares of 0.1p each 3,916,450 -
15,323,276 11,406,826
£ £
Ordinary shares of 0.1p each 11,407 11,407
Ordinary ‘A’ shares of 0.1p each 3,916 -
15,323 11,407

On 18 January 2019 3,916,450 ordinary ‘A’ shares were issued for conslderatlion of £1,500,000.

Both classes of shares carry one vote per share and rank parl-passu in respect of dividend. On a
return of assets on liquidation or otherwise (except on a redemption of shares of any class or the
purchase by the company of its own shares) the assets of the company remaining after the payment
of its liabilities shall be distributed amongst shareholders as follows: firstly an amount equal to the
subscription price of the A Ordinary shares shall be paid to the holders of the A Ordinary shares; the
remaining amount of the surplus (if any) shall be paid to shareholders (as If all shares constituted a

single class) in proportion to the number of such shares held by them.

Reconciliation of movements during the period:

Ordinary

Number

At 1 July 2018 11,406,826
Issuve of fully paid shares 3,916,450
At 30 June 2019 15,323,276

No share options became exercisable during the period (2018: nil).

Reserves of the company represent the following:

Share Capital - Shares in the company held by shareholders at a proportional level with equal

voting rights per share.
Share Premium - Excess over share capital of any Investments.
Retained earnings — This comprises the accumulated trading results of the group.

Share-based payment reserve - This reserve comprises the falr value of options share rights
recognised as an expense. Upon exercise of options or performance share rights, any proceeds

received are credited to share capital.
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24. Share options

- Group & Company Number of share Weighted average
: options exercise price

30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June

2019 2018 2019 2018

Number Number £ ' [ 3

Outstanding at 1 July 2018 . 1,100,427 - 0.94
Granted 344,928 - 0.001 -
Exerclsed . . . - .
Cancelled (57,488)  (937,638) - (1.02)
Forfeited - (162,789) 0.001 (0.48)
Outstanding at 30 June 2019 287,440 - 0.001 -
Exercisable at 30 June 2019 287,440 - - -

No options were exercised during the year.

The options outstanding at 30 June 2019 had an exercise price ofAEO.OOI and a remaining contractuat

life ranging between July 2019 and July 2029,

The options exist at 30 June 2019 across the following share option schemes:

Number Exercise Fair value Vesting
of shares price per of scheme period
share (£)
Options Issued In July 2018 287,440 0.001 99,720 2,75 years
287,440 99,720

The fair value of the scheme is being expensed over the vesting period. All share options expire 10

years after the date of issue.

Group
30 June 30 June
2019 2018
£ £
Expenses recognised in the year
Arising from equity settled share based
payment transactions 33,679 925,475

25. Guarantees and contingent liabilities

Company
30 June
2019
£

33,679

30 June
2018
£

925,475

At 30 June 2019, the Group and Company had no contingent liabilities (2018 - none). The borrowings
disclosed in Note 18 were secured over the assets of the Group including the Company. The amounts
payable to a former shareholder (2019: £13,000; 2018: £13,000) disclosed in notes 17 and 18 are

guaranteed by the Company.
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26. Operating lease commitments

Lessee

Operating leases relating to land and buildings are on normal commercial terms with no rent-free
periods or.other incentives, and include requirements to restore sites at the end of the agreements
for which amounts have been provided for. Other agreements relate to motor vehicles on terms of

one to three years, with no fease incentives.

At the reporting end date the Group had outstanding commitments for future minimum lease

payments under non-cancellable operating leases, which fall due as follows:

Group

30 June 30 June

2019 2018

£ £

Land and buildings

WIthin one year 269,020 255,378

Between two and five years . 961,137 1,045,350

In over five years - 139,217

1,230,157 1,439,945

27. Directors’ remuneration and transactions

30 June 30 June
2019 2018
£ £
Remuneration for qualifying services 378,542 738,637
Company pension contributions to defined contribution schemes 15,440 26,200
393,982 764,837

The number of Directors for whom retirement benefits are accruing under defined contribution

schemes amounted to 1 (2018 - 1).

28. Related party transaction

Remuneration of key management personnel

The key management personnel are considered to be the Board of Directors and members, Refer

to note 27 for details of key management personnel remuneration.
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29, Subsidiaries

Details of the Company's subsidiaries at 30 June 2019 are as follows:

Name of undertaking and Nature of business Class of % Held

country of incorporation or shareholding

residency

Forsite Diagnostics Limited (UK) Manufacturing of diagnostic Ordinary shares 100%
devices

Molecular Vision Limited (UK) Consultancy and R&D into a Al Preference 100%
diagnostics technology shares
platform

Serascience Limited (UK) Development and sales of Ordinary shares 100%
medical diagnostic devices

Associate

Linear Diagnostics Limited (UK) R&D Into a diagnostics Ordinary shares 35%

technology platform

All investments are directly held by the company.

Forsite Diagnostics Limited and Molecular Vision Limited have the same registered address as noted
on the company information page in these financial statements.

The registered office of Serascience Limited Is Newstead House, Petham Road, Nottingham, NGS
1AP.

The investments in subsidiaries are all stated at cost less impairment in the financial statements,

30. Ultimate controlling party

In the opinion of the directors, no one party has ultimate control due to shareholding.
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